
 
 

 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

FINANCE AND GOVERNANCE CABINET ADVISORY BOARD 
 

Tuesday 11 July 2023 at 6.30 pm 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS 

 
 

 

Members:  Councillor Hall (Chair), Councillors Sankey (Vice-Chair), Dawlings, Ellis, Francis, 
Goodship, Holden, Knight, McMillan, Moon and Osborne 

Quorum:  3 Members 

 
 

1   Apologies 
To receive any apologies for absence. 

(Page 5) 

2   Declarations of Interests 
To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on 
the agenda. For any advice on declarations of interest, please 
contact the Monitoring Officer before the meeting. 

(Page 6) 

3   Notification of Persons Wishing to Speak 
To note any visiting Members and members of the public wishing 
to speak, of which due notice has been given in accordance with 
Council Meeting Procedure Rule 18 and 19 and which items they 
wish to speak on. 

(Page 7) 

4   Minutes of the meeting dated 6 June 2023 
To approve the minutes of a previous meeting as a correct record. 
The only issue relating to the minutes that can be discussed is 
their accuracy. 

(Pages 8 - 14) 

5   Forward Plan  as at 23 June 2023 
To note forthcoming items as set out in the Forward Plan 

(Pages 15 - 31) 

6   Strategic Risk Register 
To consider and provide a recommendation to Cabinet on the 
proposals set out in the attached report. 

(Pages 32 - 56) 

7   Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/25 
To consider and provide a recommendation to Cabinet on the 
proposals set out in the attached report. 

(Pages 57 - 75) 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 
 

 

8   Dunorlan Parking Consultation Response 
To consider and provide a recommendation to Cabinet on the 
proposals set out in the attached report. 

(Pages 76 - 103) 

9   Property Transaction Report January to June 2023 
To consider and provide a recommendation to Cabinet on the 
proposals set out in the attached report. 

(Pages 104 - 109) 

10   Urgent Business 
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are 
urgent, for the reasons to be stated, in accordance with Section 
100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

(Page 110) 

11   Date of the Next Meeting 
To note that the date of the next scheduled meeting is Tuesday 5 
September 2023 at 6.30pm.   

(Page 111) 

EXEMPT ITEM(S) 
 

It is proposed that, pursuant to section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the 
Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, the public be excluded from 
the meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it/they may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I, Schedule 12A of the Act, by virtue 
of the particular paragraph(s) shown on the agenda and on the attached report(s). 

12   Exempt Appendix to the Property Transaction Report 
January to June 2023 (Agenda Item 9) 
Exempt by virtue of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended): Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person including the 
authority holding that information. 

(Pages 112 - 113) 

 

 
 
Democratic Services Team Town Hall 
 ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS 
Tel:      (01892) 554413 Kent   TN1 1RS 
Email:  Committee@TunbridgeWells.gov.uk  
 

 

mod.gov app – go paperless 
 

Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your 

mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free!. 
 

Visit   www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp   for details.  

Page 2

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp


 
 

 

 

 
 
Options that the Cabinet Advisory Board Can Consider 
 
The Cabinet Advisory Board is asked to consider each report and in each case come to a 
consensus and advise the Cabinet which one of the three options identified below it 
supports:  
 

A. The Cabinet Advisory Board supports the recommendation(s) in the report.  
 
or 
 
B. The Cabinet Advisory Board supports the recommendation(s) subject to the 

issues it has identified being taken into account by the Cabinet (any issues 
identified should be stated and recorded). 

 
or 
 
C. The Cabinet Advisory Board does not support the recommendation(s) on at 

least one of the following grounds 
 

3.1 Inadequate consultation with stakeholders; and/or 
3.2 Inadequate evidence on which to base the decision; and/or 
3.3 Insufficient consideration of legal and financial information; and/or 
3.4 Another reason, as decided by the meeting of the Cabinet Advisory 

Board. 
 

In each case the final Cabinet report will be amended to outline the option selected by the 
Cabinet Advisory Board and explain why this option was selected.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



 
 

 

Attending Meetings 
 
Meetings are held in the town hall and are webcast live online. 
 
Any member of the public may attend to watch/listen in person or online live via our website on 
the relevant committee’s meeting page. A recording of the meeting will also be available shortly 
after the end of the meeting. 
 
All meetings and agenda are open to the public except where confidential information is being 
discussed. The agenda of the meeting will identify whether any meeting or part of the meeting is 
not open to the public and explain why. 
 

Speaking at Meetings 
 
Members of the public are encouraged to participate and may speak to the Council directly on 
any item on the agenda for up to 3 minutes. Members of the public (and any members of the 
Council who are not members of the committee) will need to register with Democratic Services 
in advance. Please see the agenda item titled Notification of Persons Registered to Speak 
for more details. 
 

Coming to the Town Hall 

 
All visitors attending a public meeting at the Town Hall should report to Reception via the side 
entrance in Monson Way no earlier than 15 minutes before the start of the meeting. 
 
Seating will be allocated on a first-come-first-serve basis. The Council may alter the number 
and location of available seats if necessary on safety or public health grounds. 
 
The public proceedings of this meeting will be recorded and made available for playback on the 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council website. Any other third party may also record or film 
meetings, unless exempt or confidential information is being considered, but are requested as a 
courtesy to others to give notice of this to the Clerk before the meeting. The Council is not liable 
for any third party recordings. 
 
Further details are available on the website www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings or from 
Democratic Services. 
 

If you require this information in another format, 
please contact us, call 01892 526121 or email 

committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 
 

Page 4

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/meetings
mailto:committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Apologies for Absence 

 

Apologies for Absence  

For Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board on Tuesday 11 July 2023

 

Procedural Item 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Declarations of Interest 

 

Declarations of Interest 

For Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board on Tuesday 11July 2023

 

Procedural Item 

To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on the agenda in accordance 

with the Members’ Code of Conduct. For any advice on declarations of interest, please 

contact the Monitoring Office before the meeting. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Notification of Persons Registered to Speak 

 

Notification of Persons Registered to 

Speak 

For Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board on Tuesday 11 July 2023 

Procedural Item 

To note any visiting Members or members of the public wishing to speak, of which due notice 

has been given in accordance with Council Procedure 18, and which items they wish to 

speak on. 

 

Information for members of the public wishing to speak. 

Members of the public are encouraged to participate and those wishing to comment on an 

agenda item will need to register with Democratic Services in advance. Registration opens 

when the agenda is published and closes at 4pm on the last working day before the meeting. 

There may be up to 4 speakers per agenda item and a maximum of 3 minutes is permitted 

per speaker.  Places are allocated on a first come first serve basis. 

 

 

   

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



1 

 
 

TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

FINANCE AND GOVERNANCE CABINET ADVISORY BOARD 
 

MINUTES of the meeting held at the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, 
TN1 1RS, at 6.30 pm on Tuesday, 6 June 2023 

 
Present:  

Councillors Sankey (Vice-Chair), Dawlings, Ellis, Francis, Knight, McMillan, Moon and 
Osborne 

 
Officers in Attendance: Lee Colyer (Director of Finance, Policy and Development (Section 
151 Officer)), Jane Fineman (Head of Finance and Procurement) and Caroline Britt (Senior 
Democratic Services Officer) 
 
 
APOLOGIES 
 
FG1/23 
 

Apologies were received from Councillors Halll and Holden.  Councillor 
Goodship was not present. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 
 
FG2/23 
 

There were no disclosable or other significant interests declared at the 
meeting. 
 

NOTIFICATION OF PERSONS WISHING TO SPEAK 
 
FG3/23 
 

There were no visiting persons registered to speak. 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING DATED 11 APRIL 2023 
 
FG4/23 
 

No amendments were proposed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting dated 11 April 2023 be 
approved as a correct record.   
 

FORWARD PLAN  AS AT 23 MAY 2023 
 
FG5/23 
 

No amendments were proposed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Forward Plan as at 23 May 2023 be noted. 
 

REVENUE MANAGEMENT QUARTER 4 
 
FG6/23 
 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement and Parking introduced the 
report set out in the agenda. 
 
Discussion and questions from Members included the following: 
 

- The Finance Team were congratulated for finalising the Council’s 
accounts by the end of May 2023.   

- The introduction of the new Fees and Charges were staged and took 
effect towards the end of the last financial year.  They generated 
about  £300k more than had originally been projected. 

- The budget deficit of £943k was based on the assumption that the 48 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



2 

 
 

vacancies in the Council were filled. 
- The Council were mindful that staff vacancies needed to be filled.  It 

was hoped the People’s Strategy, when published, would help 
achieve this.  The Council continued to advertise but at the moment it 
was struggling to make any significant headway in trying to reduce the 
number of vacant posts. 

- The People’s Strategy would be one of the Council’s core policy 
documents so would need to go through the usual approval process.  
It was hoped that it would be adopted by February 2024. 

- There was no guarantee that the vacancies would be filled in the next 
12 months.  If the vacancies were not filled, the money saved would 
cancel out the deficit.   

- However, this was not a healthy position for the Council.  The Council 
were reliant on its staff to continue delivering the services but the 
current shortfall meant the position would soon become 
unsustainable. 

- The level of service that the Council needed to deliver to its residents 
was starting to suffer.  Experienced staff had left and new staff 
required training. Staff sickness had also risen. 

- The budget included a vacancy factor which accounted for the 
turnover of staff.  In 2022/23 it was £260k, for 2023/24 it would be 
£340k.  An increase of £80k as the Council recognised the problems it 
was having in recruiting staff. 

- The savings over 2022/23 due to staff vacancies was £1m.  If you 
subtracted the additional £80k and then divided the balance by four, 
you would have a figure of £230k which the Council could then 
contribute towards the £944k deficit.   

- At quarter one of 2023/24 the Council would be in a position to start 
projecting for the year ahead. 

- It was noted that there was quite a large jump at year end from where 
the Council thought it would be at Quarter 3 and where the Council 
ended up in Quarter 4.  The biggest jump was in staff costs as 
department managers continued to be hopeful they would be able to 
fill vacancies. 

- The aim was to be able to find staff so the Council didn’t have a £1m 
variance for staff costs next year. 

- An alternative would be for the Council  to start to use agency staff.  
But this was expensive.   

- The Local Plan was difficult to budget for.  The Council didn’t budget 
for the Local Plan on a year by year basis.  It was usually funded from 
Reserves.  Because of a number of issues the £1m set aside for the 
Local Plan wasn’t taken from Reserves last year.  It was expected the 
£1m would be needed this year.   

- In terms of staffing, all Heads of Service had a plan to deliver their 
service and had the freedom to utilise their budget either by direct 
recruitment or the use of agency staff.   

- There were different issues that affected different departments.  
Heads of Service would work with HR to establish how best to tap into 
any particular market depending on the expertise required e.g. 
Planning or Finance. 

- The People’s Strategy would set out how the Council could recruit and 
retain staff and to look at what services the Council was trying to 
deliver. 

- It might be the case that the Council was not best placed to deliver 
some of the services, but it would be for Cabinet Members, alongside 
Heads of Service to balance the services that had to be delivered 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



3 

 
 

against the budget available.  This was all part of the process when 
setting the budget. 

- It was very difficult to forecast forward.  Funding from Central 
Government was provided on an annual basis.  In addition there were 
a number of variables that go into the Council’s Business Rate growth.  
The Council had to then factor in issues that were completely outside 
their control e.g. Covid. 

- The budget was put together with the information available at that 
time.  The quarterly monitoring reports allowed the Council to provide 
an update during the year.  So any movements could then be 
forecast. 

- The Council also tried to make use of market intelligence e.g. 
information from the Bank of England – however, recently, national 
forecasts had been unreliable which had compounded the Council’s 
ability to accurately forward forecast. 

- Based on the information available at the time, it was fair and 
reasonable for Cabinet to take appropriate action to ensure the budget 
balanced by the end of the year. 

- The Chief Executive as Head of Paid Services and the Head of 
Human Resources would be responsible for delivering the People’s 
Strategy. 

- The list of all current vacancies was listed in Appendix G. 
- If overtime was paid, it was paid in single time.  Otherwise, the Council 

offered flexible working which allowed staff to manage their time, 
taking account of any additional hours worked.   

- There was no requirement for staff to work within a certain distance 
from the Town Hall.   

- It was not possible to know in advance whether the Council would 
generate Business Rate growth.  It was difficult to predict and reliant 
on a number factors.  It was not just Business Rate growth, it was net 
growth above the baseline.  The Valuation Office set the rateable 
value, and the Council collected on the basis of that value.  However, 
if a business was successful on appeal, that would net down the 
Council’s growth. 

- The Council was very susceptible to a number of very large employers 
who made use of consultants to chase down the rateable value in 
order to secure a refund. 

- Because of the volatility, it was not prudent to assume Business Rate 
growth money every year. 

- Business Rate growth money should in any case not be used as part 
of the Revenue budget.  It shouldn’t be used to provide services as to 
do so would be assuming a level of income that couldn’t be 
guaranteed.   

- The correct use for this money was to use it to fund the Capital 
Programme – and this is what the Council does so as to ensure it had 
sufficient funding going forward. 

- The money received from Business Rate Growth could in theory be 
used as part of the Revenue budget, but then the Council would not 
have a Capital Programme.   

- The level of appeals currently totalled £13.5m which meant there was 
a lot of risk.  And this was just for refunds, it didn’t cover businesses 
going bust. 

- It was agreed that a Members Briefing on Business Rates would be 
arranged. 

- In addition to having a People’ Strategy, the Council had a Business 
Continuity Plan.  This came into play during the pandemic where the 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



4 

 
 

Council were able to divert staff to essential services as necessary. 
- With reference to recommendation 2 of the report, car parking 

charges were increased quite early on to deal with the deficit.  Given 
there was now no deficit, the car parking strategy on charges should 
be reviewed. 

- For clarification, the report showed that the Council did not have a 
deficit for 2022/23.  All Councils would project a deficit going forward 
because their income streams could only go up by 3% (capped) and 
expenditure was rising by 10%.   

- Last year, only one District Council in Kent didn’t have a deficit.  The 
level of funding available was insufficient to meet the level of 
expenditure.  Councils therefore started with a deficit and then during 
the year, worked towards reducing it by year end.   

- Quarter 4 report was historical.  To ask Cabinet to consider something 
for the current year fell outside the scope of this report.   

- The cost of using Agency staff should be considered where the needs 
of the Council to deliver its services outweighed the additional 
expense. 

- It was noted that it was not Cabinet’s responsibility to recruit staff, it 
was the responsibility of the Chief Executive as Head of paid services 
and HR.   

 
RESOLVED – That the recommendations to Cabinet set out in the report be 
supported. 
 

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT REPORT QUARTER 4 
 
FG7/23 
 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement and Parking introduced the 
report set out in the agenda. 
 
Since the publication of the agenda, the Committee were asked to take into 
account some additional information, including approval of 3 additional 
recommendations to Cabinet. 
 

- Since the report was prepared, the Council had been offered the 
opportunity to bid for some additional funding from the Homes for 
Ukraine Grant held by KCC and the European Housing Fund applied 
for by KCC, upon which they were still awaiting approval. If the 
Council was successful, Cabinet would need to approve certain 
decisions in order to spend the money swiftly, and urgent progression 
was a condition of the grant. 

- The Council would like to bid for £1.403m funding for our proportion of 
the Local Authorities Housing Fund Scheme to deliver 15 affordable 
homes in Tunbridge Wells. If successful, then we would no longer 
need to use our own S106 developer funding and it could be 
repurposed. 

- The Council would also like to bid for £850,000 to refurbish the 4 
properties in Crescent Road into 3 or 4 bedroom homes, which could 
initially be shared by Ukrainian families, but subsequently brought into 
the Council’s housing stock. If successful, the Council would ask for 
approval to go ahead and refurbish the properties. It had been 
discussed whether it would be better to divide these properties into 
smaller units, but as there were already 3 properties in smaller units in 
the parade, the variety was felt to be more appropriate. The Council 
also had a shortage of this property size and it would be cheaper, and 
importantly much quicker, to deliver than smaller units. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



5 

 
 

- Thirdly, the Council would like to bid for £800,000 to purchase a 4/5 
bed property, which again, 2 Ukrainian families would share. Again, 
this would be brought back into the Councils housing stock once no 
longer needed by Ukrainian guests. Affordable larger homes were in 
very short supply in the Borough and housing were recommending 
that this was the main area of housing shortage they experienced. If 
successful the Council would like approval to move to purchase a 
property.  

- Subject to agreement by the Committee, 3 recommendations would 
be added to the report that would be put forward to Cabinet as follows: 

o That if granted £1.403m KCC funding for the Council’s 
proportion of the Local Authorities Housing Fund Scheme to 
deliver 15 affordable homes in Tunbridge Wells, Finance and 
Governance recommends that the grant money be spent on 
the scheme and that the allocated S106 money should be 
repurposed. 

o That if KCC grants £850,000 to refurbish the 4 Crescent Road 
properties into 3 or 4 bedroom houses, Finance and 
Governance recommends to Cabinet that the grant should be 
spent as such and the refurbishment should be completed. 

o That if KCC grants £800,000 to purchase a 4 or 5 bedroomed 
house in the Borough, Finance and Governance recommends 
to Cabinet that the grant should be spent as such and a 
property purchase should be undertaken. 

Discussion and questions from Members included the following: 
 

- The report was forward looking with capital expenditure being rolled 
forward to the new financial year.  This was different to the Revenue 
report which was historic. 

- The report provided details of available s106 developer contributions, 
with £948,000 as having been approved.  The additional £1.403m 
identified as part of the Local Authority Housing Fund Scheme now 
needed to be approved by the Committee and Cabinet in order for it to 
be included into the Capital Programme. 

- The Local Authority Housing Scheme report went to Cabinet on 14 
March 2023.  Cabinet approved the recommendations included in the 
report.  Those recommendations included the provision of £1.403m of 
S106 developer contributions to be used as the Council’s contribution 
to the scheme.   

- The Capital Report recognised that an approval had been given and 
the money now needed to be drawn into the Capital Plan.  The money 
would show on the next quarterly report. 

- The amount of money required for this project would be dependent on 
how successful the Council was in securing the funding from KCC.  If 
successful, the Council would not need to spend any S106 money on 
this scheme. 

- Since approval on 14 March 2023, Town and Country had agreed to 
contribute to this project.  The amount agreed in the report was 
therefore no longer correct.   

- Cinder Hill was a gypsy and traveller site.  The Council had a policy to 
provide 33 additional pitches  (similar to housing supply) until 2038 .  
Cinder Hill was identified as being a suitable for 2 to 3 pitches.   

- Those using the site would be treated the same as any tenant on 
Council property. 

- Paragraph 4.15 refers to affordable housing rather than social 
housing.  The term affordable housing was the term used in the report 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



6 

 
 

approved by Cabinet. 
- There was no conflict between the Local Authority Housing Fund 

Grant and the new grants that the Council were now seeking 
agreement for.  Rather a synergy that would benefit both Ukrainian 
families and Afghan families.   

- It was unlikely that Government would seek to reclaim the money 
given to KCC for the Ukrainian Fund.  That said, KCC were very keen 
to see the funding spent as quickly as possible to avoid any 
‘opportunity’ for the Government to ask for it back. 

- The Council had undertaken some work on the level of funding KCC 
had available.  At present KCC had about £9m that had yet to be 
allocated.  In addition there was £3.9m available from the European 
Housing Fund.  So the total funding still available was nearly £14m.   

- If the money was allocated equitably across all the districts, each 
district would receive about £1m.   

- If the Council received this amount, it would cover the funds required 
for the Local Authority Housing Scheme. 

- Not all the districts put in applications for the Local Authority Housing 
Fund, so it was likely that not all districts would be applying for this 
money. 

- The Council were therefore putting in speculative bids based on their 
being additional funding available.   

- It was noted that this was not a decision making Committee so it was 
possible to consider the new information and proposed additional 
recommendations. 

- In addition to capital spending on housing, other projects included 
maintenance projects, decarbonisation and climate emergency 
projects.  The Council continued to look at possible opportunities but it 
was dependent on the level of resources available. 

- Money not used could be rolled over and this would be approved by 
Cabinet. 

- The Council had done an extraordinary job looking after refugees and 
this scheme continues this work.   

- The length of any tenancy and the future use of these properties (i.e. 
when they might be returned to the Council for social housing) was 
outside the scope of this report.  The report was confined to grants 
being awarded to house refugees.   

- It was agreed to include the word ‘swiftly’ in all three of the additional 
recommendations to better ensure that the funding would not be 
reclaimed.   

 
RESOLVED – That the recommendations to Cabinet as set out in the report 
and in the additional information be supported  
 
 

TREASURY AND PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR MANAGEMENT REPORT QUARTER 4 
 
FG8/23 
 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement and Parking introduced the 
report set out in the agenda. 
 
The report was taken as read. 
 
RESOLVED – That the recommendations to Cabinet as set out in the report 
be supported. 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



7 

 
 

PERFORMANCE SUMMARY QUARTER 4 
 
FG9/23 
 

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development introduced the 
report set out in the agenda. 
 
It was noted that a detailed discussion about staffing was undertaken as part 
of the Revenue Management Report. 
 
RESOLVED – That the recommendations to Cabinet as set out in the report 
be supported. 
 

COMPLAINTS SUMMARY QUARTERS 3 AND 4 
 
FG10/23 
 

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development introduced the 
report set out in the agenda. 
 
The report was taken as read. 
 
RESOLVED – That the recommendations to Cabinet as set out in the report 
be supported 
 

URGENT BUSINESS 
 
FG11/23 
 

There was no urgent business. 
 

DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING 
 
FG12/23 
 

The next meeting is scheduled for Tuesday 11 July 2023 at 6:30pm. 
 

 
 NOTES: 

The meeting concluded at 8.20 pm. 
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 TUNBRIDGE WELLS BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 

 

FORWARD PLAN 
 

www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/forwardplan 

 
 

Notice of Key Decisions / Notice of Private Meetings 
Pursuant to the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 

 
 

This Plan gives at least 28 days notice if the Cabinet of Tunbridge Wells Borough Council intends to make a key decision1 or 
make a decision in private2. Other decisions by the executive are also included on the Plan wherever possible. 
 
Relevant documents can be downloaded from the Council’s website or are available on request from: Democratic Services, 
Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, TN1 1RS or committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk. Documents may be submitted to the 
decision maker via Democratic Services. 
 
If it is necessary to hold a meeting in private, the reasons for this are stated alongside the decision. These reasons are 
prescribed by Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and summarised at the back of this Plan. 
 
Representations against the intention to make a decision in private can be submitted in writing to Democratic Services no less 
than ten working days before the meeting date. 
 
If the Council is unable to give 28 days notice, it will publish the reasons for this on its website and at its offices. 
 
 

 

 
Councillor Ben Chapelard 
Leader of the Council 

Publication Date:  23 June 2023 
The most recent version of the Plan supersedes all previously issued versions 

Guidance notes are provided at the back of this document 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 5

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/forwardplan
mailto:committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


2 

 

Members of the Cabinet and their respective Cabinet Responsibilities 
 

Councillor Ben Chapelard 
Leader of the Council 

 

• Strategic Policy 

• Communications, Consultations & Engagement 

• Transparency 

• Human Resources (including learning & 
development) 

• Democratic Services 

• Devolution/Enhanced two-tier working 

 

Councillor Wendy Fitzsimmons 
Sport, Leisure and Health 

 

• Sports and Leisure Centres 

• Parks 

• Grounds Maintenance 

• Health 

Councillor Justine Rutland 
Economic Development 

 

• Royal Tunbridge Wells Town Centre 

• Economic Development & Tourism 

• Business Engagement 

• Supporting the Town Centre 

• Culture & the Arts & Customer Service 

• Assembly Hall, Ice Rink & The Amelia Scott 

• Events 

• Transportation 

• Parking (on and off street) 
 

Councillor Nancy Warne 
Deputy Leader and Communities 

 

• Deputy Leader 

• Rural/Parished Areas & Parish Chairs 

• Community Safety and CCTV 

• Community Centres and Hubs 

• Community Partnerships 

• Assets of Community Value 

• Equalities (including younger & older people) 

• Equalities and Equal Access 

• Community Grants 

• Cost of Living Crisis 
 

Councillor Ellen Neville 
Environmental Services 

 

• Cemetery and crematorium 

• Recycling and waste collection 

• Street cleansing and littering 

• Fly Tipping and Abandoned Vehicles 

• Environmental Protection 

• Environmental Health 

• Licensing 

• Food Hygiene & Health & Safety Standards in 
businesses 

• Corporate Health and Safety 
 

Councillor Hugo Pound 
Housing and Planning 

 

• Planning Policy 

• Strategic Sites and Delivery 

• Development Management 

• Heritage and Conservation 

• Planning Enforcement 

• Land Charges 

• Building Control 

• Housing (incl Private Sector and Housing 
Needs) 

• Homelessness Prevention and Reduction 
 

Councillor Jayne Sharratt 
Sustainability 

 

• Sustainability – Carbon Reduction and 
promoting biodiversity 

• Community Leadership (raising funds for carbon 
reduction) 

Councillor Christopher Hall 
Finance and Performance 

• Finance 

• Revenues and Benefits 

• Internal Audit and Risk Management 

• Property, Estates & Facilities Management 

• Performance & Project Management 

• ICT, Technology and Digital Transformation 

• Legal Services 

• FOI/EIR/Complaints/Data Protection 

• Procurement Policy and Strategy 

 

 

P
age 16

A
genda Item

 5



3 

 

 

Leader of the Council – Councillor Ben Chapelard 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

22/06/23 
Cabinet 

  
 

Appointments to Outside Bodies 
To appoint representatives to the Council’s 
outside bodies. 
(All Wards) 

All Members will have 
the opportunity to 
nominate 
representatives. 
 

Caroline Britt, Senior 
Democratic Services 
Officer 

No Open 

 

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 5



4 

 

 

Finance and Performance - Councillor Christopher Hall 
 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

22/06/23 
Cabinet 

 06/06/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Performance Summary Quarter 4 
To consider an outline of the Council’s 
performance against key strategic indicators.  
Measures prescribed by central government 
through the Single Data List (SDL) and the 
progress against each of the strategic projects 
as at end of March 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Pamela Grover-
Morgan, 
Performance and 
Governance 
Manager 

No Open 

22/06/23 
Cabinet 

 06/06/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Complaints Summary Quarters 3 and 4 
A review of the complaints received under the 
Council’s complaints procedure between 1 
October 2022 and 31 March 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Pamela Grover-
Morgan, 
Performance and 
Governance 
Manager 

No Open 

22/06/23 
Cabinet 

 06/06/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Revenue Management Quarter 4 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of March 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

22/06/23 
Cabinet 

 06/06/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Capital Management Report Quarter 4 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of March 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

22/06/23 
Cabinet 

 06/06/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Treasury and Prudential Indicator 
Management Report Quarter 4 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of March 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

27/07/23 
Cabinet 

 11/07/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  
 

Strategic Risk Register 
To approve the annual review of the Council’s 
Strategic Risk Register. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Lee Colyer, Director 
of Finance, Policy 
and Development 
(Section 151 Officer) 

No Open 

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 5



5 

 

 

Finance and Performance - Councillor Christopher Hall 
 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

27/07/23 
Cabinet 

 12/07/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Property Transaction Report January to 
June 2023 
This report informs Cabinet of the property 
transactions completed under delegated 
authority between 1 January and 30 June 
2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

David Candlin, Head 
of Economic 
Development and 
Property 

No Part 

27/07/23 
Cabinet 

 11/07/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/25 
To consider proposals for the draft budget. 
(Stage 1 of 4 in setting the forthcoming year’s 
budget). 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Lee Colyer, Director 
of Finance, Policy 
and Development 
(Section 151 Officer) 

No Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 05/09/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Annual Corporate Health and Safety Report 
To note the contents of the report, along with 
the work undertaken to secure a safe and 
healthy working environment. 
(All Wards) 

 
 

Mike Catling, 
Corporate Health 
and Safety Advisor 

No  

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 05/09/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Performance Summary Quarter 1 
To consider an outline of the Council’s 
performance against key strategic indicators.  
Measures prescribed by Central Government 
through the Single Data List (SDL) and the 
progress against each of the strategic projects 
as at end of June 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Pamela Grover-
Morgan, 
Performance and 
Governance 
Manager 

No Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 05/09/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  
 
 
 
 

Revenue Management Report - Quarter 1 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of June 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance Cabinet 
Advisory Board will be 
consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 5



6 

 

 

Finance and Performance - Councillor Christopher Hall 
 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 05/09/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Capital Management Report - Quarter 1 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of June 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 05/09/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Treasury and Prudential Indicator 
Management Report - Quarter 1 
To receive the financial position as at the end 
of June 2023. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

No Open 

19/10/23 
Cabinet 

 10/10/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Budget Update Report 2024/25 
To consider an update on the Budget and the 
current financial position of the Council (Stage 
2 of 4 in setting the forthcoming year’s 
budget). 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Lee Colyer, Director 
of Finance, Policy 
and Development 
(Section 151 Officer) 

No Open 

26/10/23 
Cabinet 

 10/10/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Consideration of a new lease or freehold 
disposal of land at Tunbridge Wells Rugby 
Club 
Tunbridge Wells Rugby Club have requested 
that the Council grant them a new longer lease 
or land or consider a freehold disposal of land 
at the Rugby Club. 
(Pantiles & St Mark's) 

The Finance and 
Governance Cabinet 
Advisory Board will be 
consulted. 
 

David Candlin, Head 
of Economic 
Development and 
Property 

No Full 

26/10/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council 
13/12/23 

10/10/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

*Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2024/25 
To recommend to Full Council potential 
changes to the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme for 204/25 following public 
consultation. 
(All Wards) 
 
 
 
 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Zoe Kent, Interim 
Head of Revenues 
and Benefits 

No Open 

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 5



7 

 

 

Finance and Performance - Councillor Christopher Hall 
 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

23/11/23 
Cabinet 

 14/11/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Fees and Charges Setting 2024/25 
To consider and agree the fees and charges 
set by the Council. 
(All Wards) 

The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

Yes Open 

 

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 5



8 

 

 

Communities (And Deputy Leader) - Councillor Nancy Warne 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

There are no items within the designated timeframe 

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 5



9 

 

 

Economic Development – Councillor Justine Rutland 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

27/07/23 
Cabinet 

 12/07/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Economic Development Strategy 
An updated Economic Development Strategy 
is being prepared and will be consulted on 
before adoption. 
(All Wards) 

The Communities and 
Economic Development 
CAB will be consulted 
prior to public 
consultation being 
undertaken. 
 

Hilary Smith, 
Economic 
Development 
Manager 

No Open 

27/07/23 
Cabinet 

 11/07/23  
Finance and 
Governance 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Dunorlan Parking Consultation Response 

 
To consider the responses to the Consultation 
and whether or not to introduce car parking 
charges. 
(All Wards) 

Formal consultation 17 
July to 6 August 2023. 
The Finance and 
Governance CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Jane Fineman, Head 
of Finance and 
Procurement 

Yes Open 

 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 5



10 

 

 

Environmental Services – Councillor Ellen Neville 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

There are no items within the designated timeframe 

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 5



11 

 

 

Housing and Planning - Councillor Hugo Pound 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

Not before 
01/02/23 
Cabinet Member 
for Housing and 
Planning 

  
 

Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill: 
reforms to national planning policy 
The report sets out the Draft changes to 
national planning policy, shown in the tracked 
change version of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and provides a suggested 
response on behalf of Tunbridge Wells 
Borough Council to the Government 
consultation on these proposed changes to 
national planning policy.   
(All Wards) 

Report to be published 
before decision is 
made.   
 

Ellen Gilbert, 
Principal Planning 
Officer 

No Open 

Not before 
03/07/23 
Cabinet Member 
for Housing and 
Planning 

  
 

TWBC Response to public consultation on 
the Draft High Weald AONB Management 
Plan 2024-2029 
This report is a Portfolio Holder report to sign 
off TWBC’s formal response to the public 
consultation on the Draft High Weald AONB 
Management Plan, which is to be consulted 
upon in September/October 2023. 
(Benenden & Cranbrook; Brenchley & 
Horsmonden; Goudhurst & Lamberhurst; 
Hawkhurst & Sandhurst; Pembury; Speldhurst 
& Bidborough) 

Report to be published 
before decision is 
made. 
 

Ellen Gilbert, 
Principal Planning 
Officer 

No Open 

27/07/23 
Cabinet 

 10/07/23  
Planning and 
Transportation 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Paddock Wood Neighbourhood 
Development Plan 
To recommend that Cabinet progresses the 
Paddock Wood Neighbourhood Development 
Plan to referendum.   
(Paddock Wood (East); Paddock Wood 
(West)) 
 
 
 
 
 

The Planning and 
Transportation CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Deborah Dixon, 
Principal Planning 
Officer 

No Open 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 5



12 

 

 

Housing and Planning - Councillor Hugo Pound 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

27/07/23 
Cabinet 

 10/07/23  
Planning and 
Transportation 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Pembury Neighbourhood Development 
Plan (PNDP) 
Recommendation that the PNDP, that has 
been successful at examination, proceed to 
referendum. 
(Pembury) 

The Planning and 
Transportation CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Deborah Dixon, 
Principal Planning 
Officer 

No Open 

27/07/23 
Cabinet 

 10/07/23  
Planning and 
Transportation 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Cranbrook and Sissinghurst 
Neighbourhood Development Plan 
To recommend that Cabinet progresses the 
Cranbrook and Sissinghurst Neighbourhood 
Development Plan to referendum. 
(Benenden & Cranbrook; Frittenden & 
Sissinghurst) 

The Planning and 
Transportation CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Deborah Dixon, 
Principal Planning 
Officer 

No Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council 
4/10/23 

06/09/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Empty Homes Policy 2023-2028 
Review and refresh of current Empty Homes 
Policy and action plan. 
(All Wards) 

The Communities and 
Economic Development 
CAB will be consulted. 
 

Sue Oliver, Private 
Sector Housing 
Manager 

Yes Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council - 
TBA 

04/09/23  
Planning and 
Transportation 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

*Main Modifications Consultation of Local 
Plan 2020-2038, and Sustainability 
Appraisal 
To consult on the Main Modifications of the 
emerging Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Local Plan and Sustainability Appraisal for a 6 
week period. 
(All Wards) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A statutory period of 6 
weeks consultation is 
required. Dates to be 
confirmed.  The 
Planning and 
Transportation CAB will 
be consulted.   
 

Carlos Hone, Head 
of Planning 

Yes Open 

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 5



13 

 

 

Housing and Planning - Councillor Hugo Pound 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

27/07/23 
Cabinet 

 12/07/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Tenancy Strategy 
The 2011 Localism Act introduced a duty on 
local authorities to prepare and publish a 
Tenancy Strategy. Under the terms of the 
Localism Act, Councils in England must 
prepare and publish a strategy (a “tenancy 
strategy”) setting out the matters to which the 
registered providers of social housing for its 
area are to have regard in formulating policies. 
The tenancy Strategy is an overarching 
strategy, meant to give guidance and 
information to Registered Providers of Social 
Housing (RPSH).   
(All Wards) 

The Communities and 
Economic Development 
CAB will be consulted.  
 

Tobi Phillips, 
Affordable Housing 
and Enabling Officer 

Yes Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 06/09/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Nomination Agreement 
The nomination agreement details the 
nomination arrangements for the allocation of 
social and affordable rental housing ensuring 
that the Council’s statutory duties are met by 
the housing providers operating within the 
Borough. 
(All Wards) 

The Communities and 
Economic Development 
CAB will be consulted. 
 

Tobi Phillips, 
Affordable Housing 
and Enabling Officer 

No Open 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 06/09/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Affordable Housing Commuted Sum 
Position Statement 
This statement aims to provide guidance to 
developers, including Housing Associations 
and other Registered Providers on the 
Council’s approach to how and when 
commuted payments in lieu of on-site 
affordable housing will be considered. 
(All Wards) 
 
 
 
 

The Communities and 
Economic Development 
CAB will be consulted. 
 

Tobi Phillips, 
Affordable Housing 
and Enabling Officer 

Yes Open 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 5



14 

 

 

Housing and Planning - Councillor Hugo Pound 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

21/09/23 
Cabinet 

 06/09/23  
Communities 
and Economic 
Development 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

Affordable Housing Commuted Sums 
Spending Policy 
This report presents the document Policy and 
Procedure to spend commuted sums 
designated for affordable housing. 
(All Wards) 

The Communities and 
Economic Development 
CAB will be consulted. 
 

Tobi Phillips, 
Affordable Housing 
and Enabling Officer 

Yes Open 

26/10/23 
Cabinet 

Full Council 
TBA 

09/10/23  
Planning and 
Transportation 
Cabinet 
Advisory Board  

High Weald AONB Management Plan 2024-
2029 
This report relates to the formal approval of 
the High Weald AONB Management Plan, 
2024 - 2029, which would become a material 
planning consideration in planning decisions. 
(Benenden & Cranbrook; Brenchley & 
Horsmonden; Goudhurst & Lamberhurst; 
Hawkhurst & Sandhurst; Pembury; Speldhurst 
& Bidborough) 

The Planning and 
Transportation CAB will 
be consulted. 
 

Ellen Gilbert, 
Principal Planning 
Officer 

No Open 

 

P
age 28

A
genda Item

 5



15 

 

 

Sports, Leisure and Health - Councillor Wendy Fitzsimmons 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

There are no items within the designated timeframe 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 5



16 

 

 

Sustainability - Councillor Jayne Sharratt 

 

Date of decision/ 
Decision maker 

Full Council Advisory 
Board 

Report Title, Summary and Ward Consultation Details Relevant Officer Key?1 Private?2 

There are no items within the designated timeframe

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 5



17 

 

 

Guidance Notes 
Note 1: KEY DECISIONS 
 
A “key decision” means a decision which is to be taken by the executive of the Council which is likely to: 

(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are over £250,000 as well as otherwise being significant having 
regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 

 (b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Borough of Tunbridge Wells. 

 
Note 2: REASONS A MEETING MAY BE HELD IN PRIVATE 
 
In accordance with section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), the public may be excluded from a meeting on the grounds that it may involve 
the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the Act. The exemption must be by virtue of one or more specified paragraphs which are shown on 
the meeting agenda (giving 5 days notice) and, in the case of the Cabinet, on the Forward Plan (giving 28 days notice). The exemptions are summarised as follows: 
 
Paragraph (1) - Information relating to any individual. 
 
Paragraph (2) - Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 
Paragraph (3) - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any  
  particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 
Paragraph (4) - Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or  
  contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with  
  any labour relations matter arising between the authority or a  
  Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office-holders under,  
  the authority. 
 
Paragraph (5) - Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional  
  privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 
Paragraph (6) - Information which reveals that the authority proposes – 
     (a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by  
   virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
     (b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 
 
Paragraph (7) - Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in   
  connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of  
  crime. 

 QUALIFICATIONS: 
 
(8) Information falling within paragraph (3) above is not exempt information by 
 virtue of that paragraph if it is required to be registered under –  
    (a) the Companies Act 1985; 
    (b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
    (c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
    (d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 
    (e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or 
    (f) the Charities Act 1993. 
 
(9) Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development 
 for which the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission 
 pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General 
 Regulations 1992. 
 
(10) Information which –  
    (a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and 
    (b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph  
  8 or 9 above, 
 is exempt information if and so long as, in all the circumstances of 
 the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
 outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 5



 

Page  

1 of 5 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Strategic Risk Register 

 

Strategic Risk Register  

For Finance and Governance Committee on 11 July 2023

 

Summary 

Lead Member: All 

Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

Head of Service: Katherine Woodward, Head of Audit Partnership 

Report Author: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 19 June 2023 

Finance and Governance Committee 11 July 2023 

Audit and Governance Committee 25 July 2023 

Cabinet 27 July 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That the Committee considers and notes the strategic risk register and the 

arrangements for managing strategic risk.  

Page 32

Agenda Item 6



 

Page  

2 of 5 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Strategic Risk Register 

 

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 

1.1 This report sets out the strategic risks identified by the Council and to be managed and 
tracked by senior management.  The report provides a current update on the evaluated 
threat level and controls in place for each risk issue. 

2. Introduction and Background 

2.1 The risks included in the report were developed in risk management workshops and a 

survey facilitated by Zurich Reliance Solutions during September and October 2022. 

The participants included, Cabinet Members, the Chairman of Audit & Governance 

Committee, and the Council’s Management Board. Strategic risks are those events 

that within the next 12 -18 months pose a risk to the Council delivering the objectives 

of; 

1. Safeguarding finances. 

2. Vibrant and safer towns and villages 

3. Carbon reduction 

4. Genuinely affordable and social rental housing 

5. Digital access, transparency and local democracy 

2.2 The Council’s Management Board periodically reviews the risks identified along with 

the risk owners.  

2.3 Risk owners (managers) for certain risks are invited to attend the Audit and 

Governance Committee meetings to outline the Council’s approach to managing their 

particular risk(s).  

3. Options Considered 

3.1 There is no legal requirement on the authority formally to monitor its risks, still less is 
there a defined framework to do so.  Although failing to monitor and record risks will 
leave the Council vulnerable to external criticism – for example by its external auditors 
who are required to assess the effectiveness of risk management when considering 
their annual Value For Money conclusion. 

 
3.2 There is merit in maintaining a strategic risk register which accords with the principles 

of good risk management and this has proved to be an effective tool for responding to 
and recovering from the pandemic.  
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



 

Page  

3 of 5 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Strategic Risk Register 

 

3.3 The council’s insurance contract with Zurich provides access to specialist risk 
management and resilience expertise.  

4. Preferred Option and Reason 
 

4.1 The report sets out the risks using the methodology and format agreed by the Council, 

which is essentially the method advocated by Zurich from the 2022 risk workshop 

5. Consultation on Options 

5.1 The Strategic Risk Register has undergone periodic review and examination by the 

Council’s Management Board, the Cabinet and the Audit & Governance Committee.  

This stands in addition to ongoing monitoring by the identified risk owners.  

6. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Strategic Risk Register Update June 2023 

Background Papers: 

• None 

7. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the Council to have a sound 
system of control which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 
This Report is part of those arrangements and is designed to ensure that the 
appropriate controls are effective. 
 
There are no immediate legal implications arising from this report. 

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

None identified at this stage. 

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

 

Page 34

Agenda Item 6



 

Page  

4 of 5 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Strategic Risk Register 

 

C. Staffing 

None identified at this stage. 

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

D. Risk Management 

Risk management is the subject of the report, but it does not of itself raise new risk issues for 

consideration.  

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

E. Environment and Sustainability 

None identified at this stage.  

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

F. Community Safety 

None identified at this stage.  

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

G. Equalities 

None identified at this stage. 

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

H. Data Protection 

None identified at this stage.  

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

I. Health and Safety 

None identified at this stage.  

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



 

Page  

5 of 5 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Strategic Risk Register 

 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

None identified at this stage.  

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

 

 

 

 

Page 36

Agenda Item 6



Strategic Risks 
 

The Strategic Risk Profile chart below shows each risk scored onto the risk matrix graph. The 
further towards the top right-hand corner the greater the risk to the Council. The chart below 
provides only a snapshot on a particular date. 
 
The risk scenarios are: 
 

• CSR01: Shortfall of government funding 

• CSR02: Shortfall to medium-term budget 

• CSR03: Management of contracts and contractors 

• CSR04: Towns and villages 

• CSR05: Carbon reduction plan 

• CSR06: Delivery of right mix of housing and tenures 

• CSR07: Council accessibility 

• CSR08: Workforce  

• CSR09: ICT security and loss of systems access 

• CSR10: Demographic and service requirement changes 
 
 
 

 
 
   June 2023    

         

         

L
ik

e
lih

o
o

d
 

5 

    

    

   

Likelihood 
5 = Almost 
Certain 
4 = Likely 
3 = Possible 
2 = Unlikely 
1 = Remote 

4 

  

  CSR 01 
 

CSR 08 
  

 

3 

  

  

CSR 02 
CSR 04 
CSR 06 
CSR 10 

  
CSR 03 
CSR 09 

 

Impact 
5+ Catastrophic 
4 = Major 
3 = Moderate 
2 = Minor 
1 = Minimal 

2 

  

CSR 07 CSR 05   

   

1 

            

  

1 2 3 4 5 

  

  Impact 
   

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Strategic Risk Profile 

Page 37

Appendix A



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Analysis and Profiling Risks - What would the impact be if this risk occurred? 

 

What would the impact be if this risk occurred? 

P
age 38

A
ppendix A



 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Analysis and Profiling Risks - What is the likelihood of this risk occurring? 
 
What is the likelihood of this risk occurring? 

P
age 39

A
ppendix A



 
The table below tracks movement in the identified strategic risk areas.  
 

Risk 
 Ref 

Title 
November 

2022 
March 
2023 

June 
2023 

September 2023 November 2023 Trend 

CSR 01 Shortfall of government funding 
16 16 12     

 

(4 x Lk, 4 x Im) (4 x Lk, 4 x Im) (4 x Lk, 3 x Im)     

CSR 02 
Shortfall to medium-term 
budget 

9 9 9     
➔ 

(3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im)     

CSR 03 
Management of contracts and 
contractors 

15 15 15     
➔ 

(3 x Lk, 5 x Im) (3 x Lk, 5 x Im) (3 x Lk, 5 x Im)     

CSR 04 Towns and Villages 
9 9 9     

➔ 

(3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im)     

CSR 05 Carbon reduction plan 
6 6 6     

➔ 

(2 x Lk, 3 x Im) (2 x Lk, 3 x Im) (2 x Lk, 3 x Im)     

CSR 06 
Delivery of right mix of housing 
and tenures 

9 9 9     
➔ 

(3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im)     

CSR 07 Council accessibility 
4 4 4     

➔ 

(2 x Lk, 2 x Im) (2 x Lk, 2 x Im) (2 x Lk, 2 x Im)     

CSR 08 Workforce 
16 16 16     

➔ 

(4 x Lk, 4 x Im) (4 x Lk, 4 x Im) (4 x Lk, 4 x Im)     

CSR 09 
ICT security and loss of 
systems access 

15 15 15     
➔ 

(3 x Lk, 5 x Im) (3 x Lk, 5 x Im) (3 x Lk, 5 x Im)     

CSR 10 
Demographic and service 
requirement changes 

9 9 9     
➔ 

(3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im) (3 x Lk, 3 x Im)     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 40

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 1:  Shortfall of government funding 

Risk Description:  Current Likelihood/Impact Likely (4) /Major (3) (Pre-mitigation) 

Uncertainty of funding and centralised 

constraints with possible shortfall of funding 

for council activities. 
Target Likelihood/ Impact Possible (3) / Moderate (3) 

Member Risk 

Owner and 

Corporate 

Priority 

Cllr Hall 

Safeguarding Finances 

Officer Risk Owner Lee Colyer 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions  

• National fiscal policies change or reduce 
available funding. 

• Official inflation is around 10 per cent 
(contract inflation at 16 per cent and utilities 
over 100 per cent) whilst the council tax ‘cap’ 
is at just 3 per cent with the £5 de-minimis 
limit unchanged since 2013.  

• Central Government Grants have been 
reduced further and the Council now qualifies 
for a safety net grant to ensure spending 
power is not below 3 per cent, but this is a 
one-off grant.  

• The Government favours ad-hoc grants and 
competition-based pots of funding at short 
notice which cost time and money to submit 
schemes with little possibility of Tunbridge 
Wells being successful. 

• Another single year settlement is expected for 
2024/25. 

• The technical consultation on the Fair Funding 
Review closed in 2019, but still no response. 

• New Homes Bonus consultation closed in 
2021 but still no clarity on a replacement 
scheme. 

• Inability to plan over the medium-
term. 

• A requirement to resource and 
implement national initiatives 
imposed with little notice and 
against a backdrop of resource 
scarcity.  

• Increased and unplanned 
requirement for resources and 
finances 

• Increased costs/reduced income 

• Lack of certainty on policy direction 
and finance 

• Unable to set a balanced budget 

• The financial viability of Local 
Government especially in two-tier 
areas. 

• Deteriorating local services. 

• Market failure and pushing up the 
cost and risk of contracted out 
services beyond the resources of 
the council. 

• The Council Plan 2022-24 has ‘Safeguard the 
council’s finances’ as a priority.  

• The Council will continue to lobby government for 
financial flexibility and freedoms for councils to fund 
local services and make more decisions locally. 

• The Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill could 
provide solutions for Local Government within Kent. 

• Partnership working presents opportunities to 
collaborate on service delivery and address 
constraints on capacity 

• Engagement with the LGA, SOLACE, central 
government, and parish councils 

• Work with Kent County Council and other Kent 
councils on these issues   

• Proactive work with representative bodies 

• The Council is managing with lower levels of 
government core funding. 

 

P
age 41

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 2:  Shortfall to current budget 

Risk Description:  Current Likelihood/Impact Possible (3) /Moderate (3) (Pre mitigation) 

Uncertainty over locally raised fees and local 

taxation result in a budget shortfall and an 

inability to fund statutory services. 
Target Likelihood/ Impact Possible (3) / Moderate (3) 

Member Risk 

Owner and 

Corporate 

Priority 

Cllr Hall 

Safeguarding Finances 

Officer Risk Owner Lee Colyer 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions  

• Insufficient council income from sales, fees, 
and charges. 

• Reduction in council income from council tax 
and share of business rate growth. 

• Expenditure pressures continue to be felt from 
labour shortages, disruptions to the supply 
chains, soaring inflation and higher interest 
rates. 

• Consistent will other council’s a structural 
budget gap remains.   

• Property costs consume a disproportionate 
amount of the available budget. 

• No major capital receipts have been received 
during since 2020 to help fund the capital 
programme. 

• Inability to prioritise between council services. 

• There will be all out local elections in May 
2024 following the changes to warding 
arrangements and reduction on the number of 
councillors. 

• Significant projected deficits over 
the medium-term. 

• Depletion of reserves 

• Unable to set a balanced budget 

• The financial viability of Local 
Government especially in two-tier 
areas. 

• Deteriorating local services. 

• The council will need to focus on 
core services and will be unable to 
take on any new projects. 

• Adverse External Auditor reports. 

• The council delivered all its revenue services and 
capital funding for 2022/23 within budget with no 
recourse to reserves. This is due to significant 
staffing difficulties and additional investment interest. 

• A long track record of clean financial statements, 
although VFM improvements have been 
recommended. 

• The Council published its unaudited Financial Report 
2022/23 by the Statutory Deadline and all previous 
years have been signed off. 

• Not all councils are getting their accounts signed off 
which can be an indication of difficulties, officers are 
monitoring the situation with partner authorities.   

• The 2023/24 budget requires £943,000 from 
reserves which indicates that the Council has a post 
pandemic structural deficit of around £1 million. 

• The Section 25 Statement made clear that the drain 
on reserves from property assets is unsustainable 
and the Council must determine which assets are 
required and fit for purpose and those which should 
be sold or redeveloped.  

• There will need to be a focus on core services and 
the budget reports are now required to show those 
services that are statutory and those which are 
discretionary. 

P
age 42

A
ppendix A



• A Property Asset Oversight Panel has been 
established to extract value from land and property 
assets. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 43

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 3:  Management of contracts and contractors 
 

Risk Description:  Current Likelihood/Impact Possible (3) / Catastrophic (5) (Pre-mitigation) 

Persistent failure of (outsourced) service 

delivery to a satisfactory standard and loss of 

income/increase in costs. 
Target Likelihood/ Impact Unlikely (2) / Minor (2) 

Member Risk 

Owner and 

Corporate 

Priority 

Cllrs Fitzsimmons  

Safeguarding Finances 

Officer Risk Owner Gary Stevenson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions 

• The Council has several long-term service 

contracts with advantageous financial 

provisions which are  due to be 

recommissioned in the  near future and likely 

to give rise to financial pressures, specifically 

Grounds Maintenance (2024), Sports Centres 

(2027) and Waste (2027). 

• Contractual exposure to inflationary cost 

pressures 

• Cost of living pressures leading to a decline in 

householder disposal income available for 

discretionary spend on health and fitness 

activities, 

• There are long-term financial parameters 

within which these contracts need to be let 

and delivered to. 

• Financial stability of existing contractors  

• Potential reduction in level of competition in 

respective markets 

• Ability of contractors to recruit and retain 

qualified/experienced staff.  

• Services disrupted or below 
agreed standards 

• Complaints 

• Adverse publicity and media 

• Potential for Contractor 
withdrawal or failure 

• Potential service failure 

• Disruption to services with 
business continuity 
arrangements required  

• Required to re-tender at short 
notice  

• Additional capacity and 
resources required at short 
notice 

• Reduction in competition and 
negative change in financial 
terms in forthcoming 
procurements 

 
 

• Extensions to Grounds Maintenance and Sports 
Centre Management agreed to provide time for 
markets to stabilise and service specifications to be 
reviewed in the light of future needs and finances 

• MTFS updated to reflect projected inflationary 
increases in cost of services   

• Contract supervision by council officers 

• Contract terms requiring contractor to evidence 
supervision and performance 

• Variation to service where necessary to protect 
delivery of front-line service. 

• Monitoring of company financial performance and 
relevant marketplace. 

• Re-rounding and re-fleeting to aid more effective 
collection of waste and recycling. 

 

P
age 44

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 4:  Towns and Villages 
 

Risk Description:  Current Likelihood/Impact Possible (3) / Moderate (3) (Pre-mitigation) 

Failure to adapt to changing usage 

patterns and create opportunities for the 

community in towns and villages. 
Target Likelihood/ Impact Unlikely (2) / Moderate (3) 

Member Risk 

Owner and 

Corporate 

Priority 

Cllr Rutland 

Vibrant and safer towns 

and villages 

Officer Risk Owner David Candlin 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions 

• Competition for economic opportunities 
from other areas 

• Longer term High Street and retail decline 
over last 36 months 

• Significant change in nature of high street 
due to Covid-19 – including accelerated 
shift to online and ‘experience’ 

• Significant change in office working 
practices and reduced daily market  

• Significant cost of living increases 
impacting household disposable income 

• Stalled redevelopment of RVP to provide 
an improved or focused retail offer 

• Ongoing infrastructure issues, particularly 
traffic congestion affecting opportunities. 

• Delivery of Council objectives relating to 
housing delivery and associated 
infrastructure. 

• Connectivity (including Broadband) for 
Rural settlements 

• Lose out to other areas 

• Impact on economic vitality of area 

• Large scale property vacancy 

• Major redefinition of public realm 
space 

• Unable to secure sufficient 
opportunities to maintain vibrancy 

• Local areas and people lose out 

• Insufficient inward investment 

• Potential for knock on effects 

• Curtails attractiveness 

• Significant and ongoing impact on 
revenue streams and income (inc. 
business rates and car parking) 

• Infrastructure not improved or 
delivered 

• More vulnerable to appeals around 
Local Plan.  

• Impact on staff recruitment and 
retention 

• Damage to reputation as a place 
for investment 

• Lack of sustainable transport 
resulting in further car dependency 

• Work with Royal Tunbridge Wells Together Business 
Improvement District including promoting Royal Tunbridge 
Wells 

• Continue development of the Royal Tunbridge Wells Town 
Centre plan with working group, and major stakeholders, 
RVP and other main landowners  

• Proactively engage with landowners and occupants on the 
Call for Sites and gauging landowner appetite for 
development to support the production of the RTW Town 
Centre Plan  

• Retain High Street public realm scheme  

• Bring forward modern employment space in the Town Hall 

• Maintain and develop working relationships with key 
partners, landowners & developers across borough 

• Deliver UK Shared Prosperity Fund and Rural England 
Prosperity Fund Investment Plans 

• Lobby with partners and stakeholders to improve trading 
opportunities with Europe 

• Work with West Kent partners to update and promote key 
economic development priorities 

• Work with KMEP and WKP and other partners to lobby 
SELEP and Govt for delivery of key infrastructure 
improvements  

• Deliver new Economic Development Strategy post pandemic 

P
age 45

A
ppendix A



and associated environmental 
impacts 

•  

• Support Local Plan and Transport Strategy at Examination 
as the LP moves forward 

• Delivery of amendments to road network to encourage 
walking and cycling through LCWIP projects 

• Revision to business focused portal on webpages  

• Engagement with Kent Police, and KCC Highways on 
planning applications where appropriate, to ensure 
development remains sustainable and designed in a safe 
manner. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 46

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 5: Carbon Reduction Plan 

Risk Description:  Current Likelihood/Impact Unlikely (2) / Moderate (3) (Pre-mitigation) 

Climate Change is a global emergency and 

solving it is beyond our capability. In 

declaring a Climate Emergency, we are taking 

a proactive approach and working towards 

being carbon neutral by 2030. We are 

addressing this risk through taking a strategic 

approach whilst mitigating the impact and 

adapting to the change. 

Target Likelihood/ Impact Unlikely (2) / Minor (2) 

Member Risk 

Owner and 

Corporate 

Priority 

Cllr Jayne Sharratt 

Carbon reduction 

Officer Risk Owner Paul Taylor 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions 

• Lack of funding and competing priorities. 

• Reliance on external agencies to deliver 

(UPKN, Southern Water and KCC) 

• Severe weather is already affecting public 

services across the UK, with operational, 

reputational, financial, and legal 

consequences. 

• Climate change is expected to continue and 

worsen in the future, with changes to mean 

temperatures, the increasing frequency and 

severity of storms and higher rainfall levels in 

winter potentially causing rising water levels 

and resulting in more flooding and coastal 

erosion. Additionally, hotter drier summers, 

with heat waves and reduced rainfall. 

• There is also an ongoing impact of severe 

winter weather including snowfall and 

• Political and reputational damage. 

• Health and well-being of the community. 

• Increased likelihood of flooding impacting 
on properties  

• Kent at risk of water shortages/drought. 

• Extreme weather (heat and cold) 
impacting vulnerable residents 

• Extreme weather having a greater impact 
on the day-to-day delivery of services 

• Detrimental impact on the local 
environment 

• An increased frequency of severe weather 
conditions may lead to more instances of 
damage to Council infrastructure and 
property. 

• Adverse impact on the local economy if 
businesses are unable to operate. 

• Dissatisfaction amongst residents for not 
meeting expectations 

 

• Climate Emergency declared 

• CO2 emissions audit from council operations 
undertaken and will be reviewed in 2022. 

• Carbon descent plan agreed and annual 
action plan in place with annual review and 
update. 

• Successful £1.4m bid to the Government’s 
Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme to 
fund heat decarbonisation and energy 
efficiency measures in Council properties 

• Cross party Climate Emergency Advisory 
Panel (CEAP) set up 

• Draft Local Plan Policies 

• Business Continuity and Emergency Plans in 
place for severe weather 

• Adopted Kent Environment Strategy October 
2016 (CAB98/16) 

• Air Quality Action Plan 2018 – 2023 

• Warm Homes programme – improved energy 
efficiency (s106 approved) 

P
age 47

A
ppendix A



freezing temperatures which impact service 

delivery, and the integrity of our roads open 

space and buildings infrastructure. 

• National sustainability commitments may be 

deferred or abandoned as an emphasis on 

economic growth is prioritised post Covid-19. 

A traditional recovery will be dirtier, less 

efficient, harm economic growth and hinder 

progress on environmental improvements. 

• Increase in private car use for commuting in 

favour of public transport. 

• Tackling fuel poverty – Fuel Poverty Strategy 

• Collective Solar – partnership with KCC  

• Energy Deal (not direct energy reduction but 
aids cutting fuel costs) ongoing  

• Low carbon heating (e.g., Off – gas grid 
homes/District heat network rollout) 

• Identify and maximise the opportunities for 
change that will come from the experience of 
Covid-19 restrictions such as green 
infrastructure, including cycle lanes and 
recognising the social infrastructure around 
health and well-being, new ways of working, 
which include less commuting, working from 
and near home, accelerating digital 
transformation to ensure adaptive capacity 
and equity of access   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 48

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 6: Delivery of the right mix of housing and tenures  
 

Risk Description:  Current Likelihood/Impact Possible (3) / Moderate (3) (Pre-mitigation) 

Insufficient housing for young people, families 

and those who need genuinely affordable 

homes resulting in these people no longer 

being able to afford to live in an expensive 

borough. A failure to deliver the right mix of 

housing and tenures. 

Target Likelihood/ Impact Possible (3) / Moderate (3)  

Member Risk 

Owner and 

Corporate 

Priority 

Cllr Pound 

Genuinely affordable and 

social rental housing 

Officer Risk Owner Carlos Hone 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Action  

• The cross-party support for the housing 
growth in the Submission Local Plan (SLP) 
starts to weaken or the Local Plan is 
deprioritised as pressure groups target 
members up for election, putting at risk years 
of work and £millions spent so far with the 
loss of affordable housing, jobs and 
investment in the borough. 

• Having to meet significantly increased housing 
needs in a constrained environment (green 
belt / AONB / flooding / transport 
infrastructure) 

• Public opposition to specific housing allocation 
sites 

• Potential changes in political support for Local 
Plan: movement from, cross party support in 
February 2020 Full Council decision, owing to 
change in TW political control. 

• Requests to accommodate “unmet” 
development (housing) needs from 
neighbouring or other authorities with 
similar/greater areas of constraint.  There 

• Loss of vitality and diversity, lack of social 
cohesion, lack of family support for 
individuals and local people. 

• Significant new costs to support production 
of revised Local Plan if there is a rejection of 
the plan by an Inspector at Examination or 
there is lack of support from Council. 

• Long term delays to Local Plan production 
could see Secretary of State intervention. 

• Until Local Plan is adopted, potential likely 
increase in level of speculative un-planned 
housing on unallocated greenfield sites, 
including by housing developers whose 
operating model is one which provides lower 
quality design. 

• Risk of “vicious cycle” of planning by appeal 
potentially leading to loss of local decision 
making ultimately Council loses control of 
situation by being put into Special Measures 

• Member and community dissatisfaction with 
the uncertainty and the direction of planning 
as a result  

• The Local Plan has progressed through the Stage 1 
& 2 hearings in line with the revised Local 
Development Scheme (LDS) and was approved with 
cross-party support for submission.   

• It was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate in 
November 2021 and the Examination has 
commenced. The Examination Hearings were in two 
stages. Stage One finished in March 2022. The 
Inspector took a short pause commencing Stage Two 
in May 2022, which has resulted in a two-month delay 
against the approved timetable. The Stage Two 
hearings were concluded in July 2022. A series of 
post hearing action points have been concluded. 

• The inspectors Initial Findings Letter was received in 
November 2022 which raised some fundamental 
issues of concern regarding the strategic housing site 
allocations in the SLP. 

• Officers have been working on resolving these 
matters since then in order to present to members a 
way forward for the current Local Plan. 

• The timetable slippage will need to be updated in a 
new LDS upon receipt of the Inspectors letter. A new 

P
age 49

A
ppendix A



remains uncertainty, in particular around wider 
surrounding authorities future approach to 
meeting housing need through development 
of their new Local Plans, although recent work 
by TWBC has reduced this. At present, it is 
the Council’s view that there is no unmet need 
from neighbouring authorities. 

• Targeted actions from, bodies/stakeholders to 
oppose levels of growth set out in Submission 
Local Plan (SLP), including in responses to 
planning applications  

• The views of the Planning Inspector on 
neighbouring authorities whose draft local 
plans do not meet the housing target levels 
are relevant to this Council, or their scope to 
accommodate housing that otherwise will 
require Green Belt release or major 
development in the AONB 

• Appeal decisions and Judicial Review of 
decisions 

• Results of the housing delivery test, which has 
punitive measures for under-delivery such as 
the engagement of the ‘Presumption in favour 
of sustainable development’. 

• There is a risk of speculative planning 
applications/appeals, particularly on those 
sites not proposed for allocation in the SLP.  
Risk increases when Council cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of 
housing/failure to meet the housing delivery 
test. 

• The potential changes, increased uncertainty 
and consequential impact on service 
operation and delivery, associated with the 
Government’s consultations on national 
changes to the planning system (LURB & 
NPPF amendments) comprise significant 
(medium-long term) additional vulnerability 
factors. Any changes to the planning system 
are still being considered by DLUHC.   

• Potential significant financial implications 
associated with appeals following refusal of 
major residential development – each such 
appeal costs £50 - 100k plus and exposes 
the Council to risks of further costs awards 
to the appellant of £100k plus, and should 
decision making be seen as flawed, the 
potential Government intervention. 

• Reputational consequences – if borough is 
seen as not having certainty over planning 
decisions, then decreased appetite for 
business/capital investment  

• Legal consequences 

• Lack of affordable housing to meet the need 
for young people, families and those who 
need genuinely affordable homes  

• Affordability gap gets worse 

• Financial benefit of planned growth – 
opportunity impact 

• Increased traffic congestion 

• Impact on delivery of infrastructure 
Service delivery affected, Impact on staff 
recruitment and retention 

• Attractiveness of the town to investment 
goes down 

LDS is likely to be approved at the time any main 
changes are put to members for agreement. 

• Whilst the Local Plan is well advanced, the position of 
the SLP is under review having regard to the 
Inspectors comments, regard is being had in 
determination of planning applications to seek to 
provide a robust supply and delivery of housing and 
employment floorspace.  Establishing and 
maintaining a robust five-year (plus) supply of 
housing is and will be a key control moving forward. 

• A recent decision made by the SoS has meant that 
the Turnden site has been refused which would have 
contributed to the 5 YHLS position. However, at point 
of writing this is under legal challenge by the 
applicants.    

• Approval at Planning Committee of first of the 
strategic employment sites at Paddock Wood which 
supports the SLP direction of travel and spatial 
strategy. 

• Given progress of Local Plan and recent appeal 
decisions likelihood factor adjusted to possible.    

• Measures in place to ensure high levels of co-
ordination between Planning Policy, Strategic Sites 
and Development Management functions. 

• Regular reporting to Planning Policy Working 
Group/Cabinet member/ Planning Committee on risk 
and legislative changes, and to reinforce the 
importance of the LP, its policies and the strategic 
housing allocations. 

• Ensuring regular and constructive Duty to Co-operate 
meetings with neighbouring authorities as required, 
with approach adapted to reflect Inspectors’ findings 
from examination of other authorities’ Local Plans 

• Using the Planning Advisory Service, Planning 
Inspectorate advisory visits, discussions with the 
Department for Levelling Up Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) and heeding the views of the 
Inspectorate from neighbour’s draft plans. 

P
age 50

A
ppendix A



• Central Government change in direction with 
regards to development within the Green Belt, 
or other policy direction which may affect the 
SLP. 

• Proactive engagement at pre-application and 
application stage with colleagues in Housing to 
discuss Affordable Housing delivery and tenure mix. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 51

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 7: Council accessibility 

Risk Description:  Current Likelihood/Impact Unlikely (2) / Minor (2) (Pre-mitigation) 

Council viewed as opaque, inefficient, and 

untrustworthy. Target Likelihood/ Impact Unlikely (2) / Minor (2) 

Member Risk 

Owner and 

Corporate 

Priority 

Cllr Hall 

Digital access, transparency, 

and local democracy 

Officer Risk Owner William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions 

• Increased expectations of councils and the 

provision of information. 

• A desire from residents to understand 

information underpinning and associated 

with unpopular or contentious decisions (e.g. 

reductions to services, planning applications) 

• Council being seen as unapproachable. 

• Disillusionment and disengagement of 
residents. 

• Cabinet meetings have been held across the 
Borough with question-and-answer sessions. 

• Increased and meaningful consultation and 
engagement (including Borough-wide survey 
scheduled for mid-2023). 

• Greater use of communication and 
engagement channels including the website, 
social media and other channels.  

• Regular dialogue with parish and town 
councils and resident and amenity groups 
(through the Town Forum) and other groups 
and organisations. 

• The use of the Forward Plan to raise 
awareness of future decisions and Cabinet 
Advisory Boards to pre-scrutinise forthcoming 
Cabinet decisions and allow councillors to 
input into them. 

• Review of the Council’s political structures 
and governance arrangements in light of the 
changes brought about by the review of the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 52

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 8: Workforce 
 

Risk Description:  Current Likelihood/Impact Likely (4) / Major (4) (pre-mitigation) 

Lack of ability to attract and retain staff Target Likelihood/ Impact Unlikely (2) / Minor (2) 

Member Risk 

Owner and 

Corporate 

Priority 

Cllr Chapelard 

Not one of the Focus on Five 

Priorities.  

Officer Risk Owner Nicky Carter  

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions  

• The Council is currently carrying a significant number 
of vacancies.  

• Nationally vacancies exceed workers by around 1.6 
million. 

• The Council operates in a competitive and 
challenging environment (close to London) and in a 
part of the country where private sector salaries are 
higher than the public sector. 

• Flexible working across the sector has eroded one 
the Council’s unique selling points (namely the ability 
to work locally). 

• The Council delivers a wide range of services and 
has to fulfil a number of statutory responsibilities 
which requires many different staff with a variety of 
qualifications, expertise and experience.  
 
 

• Impact on morale 

• Reliance on key and fewer 
people 

• Unavailability / loss of key staff 

• Impact on key projects and / or 
day to day delivery  

• Services/staff are stretched 

• Impact on service quality 

• Satisfaction diminished for 
customers and for staff 

• Major programme / projects not 
delivered as expected 

• Adverse publicity 

• Political impact 

• Damage to reputation 

• Loss of confidence from the 
private sector and partner 
organisations. 
 

• The development of clear organisational objectives 
to ensure we are clear about priorities  

• The development of an HR Strategy to ensure our 
employment practices support our overarching 
objectives and make us an employer of choice. 

• Strategic review of Pay and non-pay benefits  

• Regular consideration by Management Board of 
resources with additional resources put in place to 
support priorities  

• Support for managers to manage the impacts for 
themselves and their teams, including the use of the 
Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) 

• More innovative means of recruiting so that 
candidates don’t find barriers to wanting to work 
with the Council. 

• Appropriate use of external capacity and expertise 

• Performance monitoring to identify pressure points 

• Improving resilience through partnerships 

• Adopting an ‘enabling’ approach to encourage 
community to deliver local services 

• Work with political groups to understand, prioritise 
and deliver political priorities and to ensure that the 
financial and staff capacity is in place to support 
them. 

• The intention to work on the development of a talent 
academy to bring in apprentice and graduate level 
talent to find the right roles for them to grow in.   

P
age 53

A
ppendix A



With an initial entrance level of 3 – 6 months 
depending on the individual, working with a variety 
of departments across the Council to find best fit, 
and then to develop their talents with 
apprenticeship/qualifications across the next 2 
years. 

• The talent academy is also intending to use staff at 
the latter end of their careers to pass on skills and 
knowledge to assist both individual development 
and knowledge retention in the Council.    

• There will also be the development of a ‘gig’ bank of 
staff who may wish post retirement to return for 
specific short-term projects to assist the 
organisation, help retired staff continue to have 
work opportunities if they wish, and give the 
organisation links to resources who know the 
organisation and may offer a better service than 
using an agency worker who does not know the 
Council. 
 

  

P
age 54

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 9: ICT security and loss of systems access 
 

Risk Description:  Current Likelihood/ Impact Possible (3) /Catastrophic (5) (Pre-mitigation) 

A successful cyber-attack or cyber incident 

which causes significant disruption to ability 

to deliver services 

Target Likelihood/ Impact Unlikely (2) / Minor (2) 

Member Risk 

Owner and 

Priority 

Cllr Hall 

Safeguarding Finances 

Officer Risk Owner Chris Woodward 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/Actions  

• Increased threat from cyber security 
attacks with the National Cyber Security 
Centre calling on organisations to be on 
heightened alert following the Russian 
invasion of Ukraine. 

• Ever increasing reliance on digital systems 
for virtually all Council activities and 
services 

• Data increasingly held in electronic format, 
not on hard copy paper records 

• Robustness of IT Disaster recovery 
arrangements. 

• Data migration 

• Data Protection Impact Assessments 

 

• Systems offline for a period of 

time 

• Loss of data 

• Impacting on the ability of 

Tunbridge to deliver services 

• Service disruption/failure  

• Dissatisfied customers – not 

meeting customer expectations 

• Data compromised / lost 

• Safeguarding and data 

protection issues 

• Financial impact –potential fine 

and cost of rectifying 

• Designation of a Senior Information Risk Officer 

• Public Service Network accreditation renewal Q3 

• Support from the National Centre for Cyber 
Security (part of GCHQ) 

• Continuation of cyber awareness campaign -  

• Upgrade to current backup technology Q3 

• Cortex XDR security agents are installed on all 
corporate devices. 

• Renewed Darktrace AI based cyber immune 
system 

• Nessus scanning software reporting daily on 
system vulnerabilities 

• Implementation of Next Gen firewall Q3 

• ICT policies & staff training, including disaster 
recovery planning. 

• Planned appointment of a Security Officer 

• Recently receive a Cyber Security Health check 
from Zurich. 

 

  

P
age 55

A
ppendix A



Risk Scenario 10: Demographic and service requirement changes 

Risk Description:  Current Likelihood/Impact Possible (3) / Moderate (3) (Pre-mitigation) 

The Council is unable to reassign or increase 

resources to manage demographic changes 

or changes in demand for services. 
Target Likelihood/ Impact Unlikely (2) / Minor (2) 

Member Risk 

Owner and 

Corporate 

Priority 

Cllr Warne 

Vibrant and safer Towns and 

Villages 

Officer Risk Owner William Benson 

Vulnerability/ Contributing factors Potential Impact/ Consequences Current Controls/ Mitigations in place/ Actions 

• Cost of living crisis causes increase/ change 

of need for residents, businesses, services 

and pressures on workforce. 

• Local of agility in and capacity of workforce. 

• Stagnating population, reduction in younger 

people and those of working age. 

• Reputational damage. 

• Inability to respond to the health and well-
being needs of the community. 

• Adverse impact on the local economy if 
businesses are unable to operate. 

• Loss of income from the Council Tax and 
Business Rate base 

• Dissatisfaction amongst residents for not 
meeting expectations. 

• Failure to deliver statutory services. 
 

• Cost-of-living summit held with 
representatives from parish and town 
councils, the VCS and resident and amenity 
organisations. 

• Allocation and distribution of the Household 
Support Fund. 

• An ‘enabling’ approach encouraging residents 
and businesses to support one another (which 
proved successful during Covid). 

 
 

P
age 56

A
ppendix A



 

Page  

1 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

Budget Projection and Strategy 

2024/2025 

For Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board on 11 July 2023

 

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Christopher Hall, Finance and Performance Portfolio Holder 

Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

Head of Service: Jane Fineman, Head of Finance and Procurement 

Report Author: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 19 June 2023  

Portfolio Holder 19 June 2023 

Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory 
Board 

11 July 2023 
 

Cabinet 27 July 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That officers continue to work towards reducing the projected budget deficit in line 

with the Budget Strategy and report back in October with proposals prior to public 

consultation on the draft budget in December; and 

2. Cabinet supports the emerging Saving Plan. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

2 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary 

1.1 This report provides an update to the budget projections for the 2024/25 budget and 
subsequent years, building on the approved budget for 2023/24, including the unaudited 
outturn for 2022/23.  

1.2 The report is concerned with the Council’s first priority of ‘Safeguarding the Councils 
Finances’. 

1.3 The budget forecasts have been updated and the graphic below shows the growing 
budget gap between the rising cost of delivering services and the level of income. The 
large increase in 2027/28 is the extra market cost the council is likely to face on the expiry 
of the waste contract: 

 

 

1.4 The report also provides an update on the emerging Savings Plan. 

1.5 Information from the Government on their plans is still awaited, this includes: 

• Local Government Finance Settlement 

• Replacement for the New Homes Bonus 

• Fair Funding Review 

• Council Tax ‘capping’ thresholds 

1.6 A budget deficit of £0.9 million (excluding savings) is currently forecast for 2024/25 which 
is based on projections, taking into consideration, demand pressures and inflation on 
subjective budget headings. 

Page 58

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

3 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

1.7 For 2024/25 Government Grant for this Council is expected to remain frozen.  The Council 
will need to be balance the revenue budget without recourse to reserves.  

1.8 This report will enable Directors/Heads of Services to begin the service planning process 
and to develop proposals with their respective Cabinet Member(s) for savings and 
changes to service delivery through the budget setting process. 

2. Introduction and Background 

2.1 This is the first report of the budget setting cycle leading to the setting of the 2024/25 

budget at Full Council on 28 February 2024 and will include the main reports set out 

below which will also be considered by the Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory 

Board. The detailed timetable is set out in Appendix A: 

• Budget Projection and Strategy 

• Budget Update including benchmarking 

• Draft Budget & MTFS Update for consultation 

• Final Budget & MTFS Update for approval 

Government Funding Settlement 

2.2 The Government’s four-year funding settlement ended in 2019/20 and has been 

followed by constant single year ‘roll overs’ ever since. There is no confidence that the 

commitment to end single year settlements will ever be delivered. Since 2010 when cuts 

to funding of Local Government commenced, the ability to fund local services continues 

to be dependent on growing the local economy and sharing in the proceeds of business 

rates growth.  

2.3 The Departmental Expenditure Limit (DEL) allocated to the Department for Levelling Up 
Housing and Communities (DLUHC) will determine how much funding is to be allocated 
to Local Government. Individual councils’ allocations are usually set out within the 
Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement which should be published in early 
December. 
 

2.4 It is understood that there is unlikely to be any major new legislation affecting Local 

Government Finance before the next Parliamentary Election (No later than 28 January 

2025). The policy statement issued in December 2022 locks in many of the items that 

will be in the 2024/25 settlement.  

 

2.5 Information from government is necessary to ensure that strategic financial planning 

can be modelled to ensure the smooth delivery of essential local servicers. However, 

there are many unanswered questions, including. 

 

• Fair Funding Review (FFR). This would redistribute funding based on updated 

‘relative needs’ and ‘relative resources’ data and result in a reset of the business 

rates baseline. In 2018 the Government issued a Technical Consultation Paper 

on ‘A review of Local Authority relative needs and resources’ which closed in 

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

4 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

February 2019. There has been no communication since and the DLUHC 

website says, “We are analysing your feedback.” The FFR requires significant 

work by the Government and politically a coalition of support to get through 

Parliament with ‘winners and losers’ across the country. With this in mind and a 

Parliamentary Election on the horizon, it is now felt that the earliest a FFR could 

be implemented is 2026/27. 

• New Homes Bonus. The final legacy payment was made in 2022/23. The 

Government’s consultation “Future of New Homes Bonus” consultation closed in 

April 2021, and it is unclear what the government’s intentions are as the DLUHC 

website says, “we are analysing your feedback.” In the meantime it is assumed 

that the scheme keeps rolling over.  

• Lower Tier Services Grant. This grant was to help fund core district council 

functions such as Planning and Housing Services but was based on existing 

‘needs’ formula, which has its origins back in 2013. 

• Band D Council Tax Threshold. With inflation around 10 per cent, allowing the 

threshold to be capped at 3 per cent represents a significant real terms cut in the 

yield from council tax. 

• 2011 Census. The changes to population are significant but there has been no 

confirmation from ministers of when the information will be used in the calculation 

of public funding allocations. The borough was found to have a stagnant 

population in comparison with other areas which increased  on average by 8 per 

cent, this will adversely impact on funding and investment from the Government. 

If the Fair Funding Review was to be undertaken using the Census 2021 results, 

then the redistribution of current funding would see the current Settlement 

Funding Assessment (SFA) for Tunbridge Wells of £2.4m reduced by £600,000, 

without damping. 

 New Homes Bonus (NHB) 

2.6 NHB scheme was introduced by the Government in 2011 as a “powerful, predictable, 

permanent incentive to reward the delivery of housing growth”, funded by a £900 million 

top-slice of Revenue Support Grant. 

2.7 Since 2011 various amendments have been made to dilute the financial incentive and 

in advance of consulting on changes the Government announced that in effect the 

current scheme will be phased out and consultation paper was published in February 

2021.  

2.8 It was expected that any replacement scheme would be implemented from 2023/24 as 

part of a wider reform package for local government finance. To date no information has 

been received from DLUHC.  

2.9 The Council is not set to receive any guaranteed legacy payments. The MTFS has 

assumed that some form of residential growth incentive exists that would see the 

Council continue to receive the £768,200 that was received in 2023/24. 

Business Rates 

2.10 The Council acts as an agent on behalf of HM Treasury to collect business rates based 

on the rateable set by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) and the multiplier set by the 

Page 60

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

5 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

Government. Business rates are a national tax and the council derives no financial 

benefit from annual increases to existing bills (the multiplier) or increases to bills from 

national revaluations (the rateable value).  

2.11 The most recent valuation came into on 1 April 2023, based on rateable values from 1 

April 2021.  

2.12 Since April 2013, the Business Rates Retention Scheme has provided an incentive for 

the council to grow the business rate taxbase (after netting off appeals) by encouraging 

investment into the borough.  

2.13 The continuation of business rate pooling using the exiting baseline will enable this 

council to continue to retain a share in the proceeds of business rates growth for a 

further year, the current distribution method is show below: 

    

 
Type of Authority 

Local Business Rate 
Growth Share  

 Districts 40%  

 Kent County Council 9%  

 Kent Fire & Rescue Service 1%  

 Total 50%  

 Government 50%  
 

2.14 The Council has prudently not included the proceeds of business rates growth within 

the base budget. The volatility and uncertainty with appeals makes the reconciliation of 

the Collection Fund at the end of the financial year rather a judgement call, especially 

as to the level of appeals provisions that should be provided for (£13.5m as at 31 March 

2023), which influences the amount of growth available at year-end for distribution.    

Financial Position  

2.15 The unaudited outturn for 2022/23 shows that the council managed to deliver the 

2022/23 provision of services and fund a capital programme all within budget.  

2.16 The External Auditors commented in their Annual Report on TWBC for 2021/22 that: 

“The Council’s financial position in 2021/22 continued to be challenging amidst 

the outbreak of new variants of Covid-19 which had a major impact on the 

Council’s finances and services. The Council had a healthy opening reserves 

position of £39.5m as at 1 April 2021. Based on the February Council meeting, it 

now anticipates a budget gap of £944,000 to be funded from reserves. Therefore, 

we are not anticipating that the Council will struggle with any significant financial 

difficulties for 2021/22 financial year. 

We understand that the savings potential has been affected by the impacts of 

the pandemic, our prior year experience suggests that the Council has a history 

of successful delivery on savings, and we have no reason to suggest that this 

will not be the case going forward. 

As per the Council’s medium-term budget projections, the latest iteration thereof 

assumes a cumulative deficit over the course of 5 years amounting to £20.7 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

6 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

million will need to be funded from reserves if left unmanaged. Based on this, the 

council is taking necessary steps to reduce usage of its reserves despite the 

amount being less than the usable reserves available for funding.” 

2.17 The Auditors did recommend that the Council produce a savings plan, a draft of which 

is included within this report. 

National Economic Forecasts 

2.18 The Bank of England’s (BoE) Monetary Policy Committee sets monetary policy to meet 

the 2 per cent inflation target. At its meeting ending on 10 May 2023 the MPC, voted to 

increase interest rates by 0.5 percentage points to 4.5 per cent with further increases 

possible as shown below. 

 

 

2.19 The MPC report also repeated that the BoE felt that inflation would come down although 

the fan graph below shows that the BoE modelling is still adrift of the target. The 

Consumer Prices Index (CPI) for April 2023 was 8.7 per cent.  

Page 62

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

7 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

 

 

Employment Costs 

2.20 The Council continues to face acute pressure in retaining and recruiting professional 

and other staff. The situation is exacerbated as private sector pay is significantly higher 

than the public sector in the South East, unlike the rest of the country. The regional 

disparity has been identified by the Institute of Fiscal Studies and is shown below:  

 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

8 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

2.21 The Council intends to review its pay structures along with producing a People Strategy 

to addess the high level of vacancies and turnover of staff with a report coming forward 

this year.  

Local Economic Forecasts 

2.22 The challenging economic climate and the cost-of-living crisis varies depending on the 

type of business and location of operation. The borough has been very resilient following 

the pandemic and most income streams have now recovered to pre-pandemic levels. 

2.23 The town centre economy is now noticeably busier, and the introduction of footfall 

counters will help to build valuable data of economic activity.  

2.24 The major influence over the size of the budget deficit for 2024/25 will be determined by 

the high levels of inflation and the widening gap between relatively fixed costs and the 

inability to increase income anywhere near inflation. The situation remains fluid and 

projections will continue to be updated in accordance with the budget strategy. 

2.25 A summary of local economic data is shown below: 

• Unemployment Rate for April 2023 for the borough is 2.3 per cent (1,640 
claimants) and the 3rd lowest in Kent where the average is 3.4 per cent. 

 

• Council Tax collection rates to May 2023 are up 0.68 per cent compared to target. 
 

• Business Rates collection rates to May 2023 are up 1.18 per cent compared to 
target.  

 

• There were 336 empty business properties in May 2023 compared to 314 
properties pre-pandemic. 

 

Budget Projection 2024/25 

2.26 The current year’s budget forms the base budget upon which projections are made on 

how each type of expenditure or income will change along with anticipating emerging 

demand issues and government legislation. 

2.27 The main areas of variance are summarised below.  

 2024/25 

Subjective Variance £000s 

Employment Costs 729 

Transport 0 

Premises 49 

Business Rates 50 

Supplies and Services 0 

Contracts 259 

Income (410) 

Investment Interest (508) 

No Collection Fund Balance 248 

Council Tax Increase (470) 

Page 64

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

9 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

Cease use of General Fund 943 

Budget Gap 889 

 

Medium-Term Financial Strategy Update 

2.28 The current year’s budget has been used as a basis to forecast the Net Budget 

Requirement for the next five years after allowing for inflation and changes to service 

demands. The Net Budget Requirement is funded from the baseline share of business 

rates, specific government grants and council tax. The table in the Draft Savings Plan 

shows that the level of income is insufficient to meet the cost of delivering services and 

that savings are required. The forecasting of council budget deficits is a sector wide 

issue due to the way council funding in controlled by central government. The 2023/24 

draft budgets for councils across Kent were all reporting a deficit, with one exception.  

2.29 The current update to the MTFS and the major assumptions factored into the forecast 

is set out in Appendix B. The MTFS modelling will be updated for each Cabinet report 

throughout the budget setting process. 

2.30 A subjective breakdown of the current years’ budget is available on the Council’s 

website. 

Draft Savings Plan 

2.31 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of practice 

on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code) requires the s151 

Officer to make judgements that are reasonable and prudent. In setting the budget for 

the most recent years it was necessary to assume a need to temporarily use reserve to 

balance the budget. However, the combination of greater investment income and 

significant staff vacancies resulted in the use of reserves not being required and a 

surplus being transferred to the General Fund. These events were exceptional and 

cannot be relied on to continue into future years. 

2.32 It has been two years since the impact of the Pandemic and with income streams now 

stabilised and with inflation persistently high the Council must set out a savings plan to 

close the gap between income and expenditure. The Council’s External Auditors have 

made an improvement recommendation that the Council return to the pre-pandemic 

routine of setting a balanced but without the use of reserves. The table below shows the 

draft savings plan at this stage in the budget setting process. 

 

Updated June 2023 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 

 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Net Budget before savings  14,050 14,936 15,977 19,272 20,513 22,607 

       
Business Rates and Grants (3,232) (3,232) (2,632) (2,632) (2,632) (2,632) 

Council Tax (9,929) (10,426) (10,948) (11,497) (12,073) (12,677) 

Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total Funding (13,160) (13,658) (13,580) (14,128) (14,704) (15,309) 

       
Savings required (cumulative) 889 1,278 2,397 5,144 5,809 7,298 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

10 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

       
Savings Plan       
Reduction to 39 councillors (50) (50) (50) (50) (50) (50) 

Town Hall occupation costs (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) 

The Amelia Business Rates (70) (70) (70) (70) (70) (70) 

Civic Amenity Vehicle1 (33) (33) (33) (33) (33) (33) 

Planning Fee Increase (150) (150) (150) (150) (150) (150) 

             

Savings still to find 446 835 1,954 4,701 5,366 6,855 

 

2.33 The 2023/24 budget consultation survey asked the public to allocate a fixed amount of 

funding across the discretionary services (those provided by choice) to see how this 

compares with the draft budget. The areas where the public would be most likely to 

reduce the budget are:  

• The Amelia Scott 

• Property and 

• The Assembly Hall Theatre 
 
2.34 The full results of the consultation were considered by Cabinet and published on the 

website. 

 https://tunbridgewells.gov.uk/news/2023/february/budget-survey-thank-you-for-taking-part 

2.35 A similar budget consultation exercise where the public are asked to allocate funding to 

arrive at a balance budget is planned to run for four weeks from the 8 December 2023 

to 5 January 2024. This is shorter than the usual six weeks, but this will give more time 

for the results to be considered and potential changes made before the budget is 

finalised.  

2.36 A Residents’ Survey will run for six weeks (12 June to 23 July 2023) and cover broader 

financial principles which can also be considered as part of the budget setting process.  

2.37 In additional a Councillor Convention was held on 20 June 2023 to gather the collective 

thoughts and suggestions from all three tiers of democratically elected representatives 

with responsibility across the borough.   

Budget Strategy 

2.38 There remains a deficit forecast for 2024/25 of £889,000 (before savings) which, if left 
unmanaged, would need to be funded from reserves. The use of general reserves is 
unsustainable over the longer-term which led Cabinet in 2012 to set a definition of a 
balanced budget as follows: 

 
“Where ongoing expenditure is met from fees, charges, government grant and council 

tax with only the use of earmarked reserves being used to meet one-off priority 

expenditure.”  

 

 
1 Subject to consultation with parish and town councils 

Page 66

Agenda Item 7

https://tunbridgewells.gov.uk/news/2023/february/budget-survey-thank-you-for-taking-part


 

Page  

11 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

 

 

Council Tax Strategy 

2.39 One source of funding for the provision of local services is council tax. This Council has 

historically had a policy of very low council tax levels and the strategy is for council tax 

to increase up to the threshold for triggering a referendum. 

2.40 In previous years, the most efficient authorities such as this Council have been able to 

increase council tax up to £5.00 a year rather than the cap of 3 per cent. The 

Government assumes this Council will increase Council Tax by the maximum permitted 

in their assessment of this Council’s available financial resources. It will be for Full 

Council in February 2024 to decide the level of Council Tax. 

2.41 With inflation going into double figures, the national council tax cap of 3 per cent appears 

unrealistic as councils like other organisations cannot continue to absorb such 

inflationary pressures.  The district council tax ‘cap’ of £5.00 has remained frozen since 

2013 and there is pressure from the Local Government Sector for this to finally be 

increased (a flexibility given to all other tiers of Local Government). 

2.42 The combination of a low council tax rate and low house values (as set in 1991) for 

council tax banding purposes, results in TWBC receiving £2.7 million less each year 

from Council Tax than other West Kent Councils and half that of Maidstone Borough 

Council, as shown below: 

 

Sales, Fees and Charges (SFCs) 

2.43 For the fees and charges which are not imposed by central government a report will be 

considered by Cabinet in November. 

Car Parking Charges  

£0

£2

£4

£6

£8

£10

£12

£14

£16

£18

£20

Maidstone Sevenoaks Tonbridge &
Malling

Tunbridge Wells

M
ill

io
n

s

Council Tax Income in West Kent 
2023/24

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

12 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

2.44 Proposals to increase pay and display car parking charges or amend free periods will 

be included in separate Car Park Charges reports. 

Staff Savings and Efficiencies 

2.45 Directors/ Heads of Services and Cabinet Members have been busy trying to identify 

further efficiency options to reduce the cost of their services and to increase income. 

These are still in the discussion stage and need refining before they can be submitted 

to the Cabinet Advisory Board or in the case of staffing changes through the process 

set out within the HR Policies. 

Digital Transformation 

2.46 It is not possible to keep working harder and faster with fewer resources and still provide 

safe, effective services. The Council will need to find new ways of working smarter and 

deliver services in a more digitally efficient form which meets with the way the public 

now interact with service providers. The Council has a Digital Services and 

Transformation Team in place to improve operational delivery and transform the way 

that services are provided. Details of these projects are reported quarterly to Cabinet 

and the resulting efficiencies will be incorporated into the budget-setting process.   

Capital and Revenue Reserves 

2.47 The Medium-Term Financial Strategy maintains the following as an adequate level of 

reserves: 

  Minimum 

General Reserves (Revenue) £3.0 million 

Capital Receipts £1.0 million 

 

2.48 The reserves and balances are currently forecast to meet the above levels although 

maintaining this position relies on delivering not just a balanced budget in 2024/25 but 

a sustainable budget for the future. 

2.49 The minimum level of reserves is a professional judgement of the s151 Officer based 

on the financial obligations and risks of each individual council. CIPFA’s good practice 

guidance requires the General Fund reserves to be a minimum of 5 per cent of the net 

budget requirement or more.   

2.50 In addition to the revenue and capital budget, the Council has earmarked reserves which 

form part of the Budget and Policy Framework and are available to fund the specific 

purpose of the reserve in accordance with the virement procedure rules. The projected 

balances of these reserves are shown below and assume that the revenue budget is 

balanced from 2024/25 without further utilisation of reserves: 

 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-26 31-Mar-27 31-Mar-28  
Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast 

 
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 

General Fund 4,354  4,354  4,354  4,354  4,354  4,354  

Page 68

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

13 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

Earmarked Reserves 18,562  7,402  3,170  2,193  1,462  962  

2023/24 Budget Deficit 0  -943  -943  -943  -943  -943  

Collection Fund adj 1,301  0  0  0  0  0  

Capital Grants & Contributions 3,550  3,550  3,550  3,550  3,550  3,550  

Capital Receipts Reserve 1,031  0  0  0  0  0  

Total Reserves 28,798  14,363  10,131  9,154  8,423  7,923  

Outstanding Financing       

33 Monson Road  -855  -810  -765  -720  -675  -630  

Dowding House  -1,781  -1,692  -1,603  -1,514  -1,425  -1,336  

The Lodge, Calverley Park -447  -426  -404  -383  -362  -341  

The Amelia Scott -2,000  -1,920  -1,840  -1,760  -1,680  -1,600  

Civic Site Essential Works 0  -1,061  -1,019  -977  -934  -891  

Total Outstanding Financing -5,083  -5,909  -5,631  -5,354  -5,076  -4,798  

 

2.51 The Council does not have any external debt and with borrowing costs still rising, this is 

a prudent position to maintain. The s151 Officer retains the flexibility to borrow as an 

alternative to utilising capital receipts. 

Significant Areas of Risk and Uncertainty 

2.52 High levels of inflation are placing pressure on staff, residents and businesses which is 
being referred to as a cost-of-living crisis. The following areas being susceptible to risk: 

 

• Inflation indexation on major contracts. 
 

• Collection of Council Tax and Business Rates 
 

• Recruitment and retention of professional staff across the Council.  
 

• Energy usage is relatively fixed, but costs are already over 100 per cent higher. 
 

• The cost of owning and operating premises is increasing uneconomical due to high 
utility and maintenance costs.  

 

• Labour shortages and high costs from operating in one of the most expensive parts 
of the country places additional costs and risks on the Council and its contractors.   

 

• A reduction to the town centre workforce as major employers review their property 
assets and the work-from-home practice continues.  

 

• A lack of confidence by the private sector to invest in the borough. 
 

Major External Contracts 
 
2.53 The council currently has in place three major contracts which were all procured in a 

very different economic climate and with the contractors being responsible for risks 

which have now come to pass. They were procured in a healthy and competitive 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

14 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

marketplace which may now not be the case following the legacy of the pandemic. This 

presents a significant risk to the council in financial terms and potentially being exposed 

to additional risk going forwards. The current contract expiry dates are as follows: 

• Leisure Centre Management  31 March 2027 

• Grounds Maintenance   31 December 2026 

• Waste and Street Sweeping  31 March 2027 

 

2.54 Individual reports will come forward in due course setting out the issues and options to 

Cabinet and will be listed on the Forward Plan. 

Benchmarking 

2.55 As part of the development of the budget the council will make use of the updated 

service expenditure benchmarking data using the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 

and Accountancy (CIPFA) nearest statistical neighbours and the income and 

expenditure data from the Council’s geographical neighbours. This will be prepared for 

the Budget Update report in October. 

Resilience 

2.56 Council finances are under intense pressure from ten years of austerity, followed by the 

impact from the pandemic. Despite all this uncertainty out of 343 councils very few have 

got into financial difficulty. All tend to be upper tier authorities or those with a history not 

getting their final accounts signed off.  

2.57 To help avoid councils from getting into financial difficulties and subsequently issuing a 

s114 notice or requesting a Capitalisation Direction, CIPFA developed a set of risk 

indicators. This uses publicly available data to compare similar authorities across a 

range of factors to improve understanding of a council’s financial risk. The latest release 

of the Resilience Index will be used as part of the development of the budget setting 

process.  

National Policy and Legislative Changes 
 

2.58 The above forecasts are subject to changes from the following government activities: 

• Levelling-Up and Regeneration Bill 

• The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement; and  

• Fair Funding Review and reforming Local Government Finance. 

3. Options Considered 

3.1  The budget-setting process is well rehearsed and has largely been successful in 

 delivering a balanced budget and engaging with the public. There may be other 

 alternatives but ultimately the Council must produce a budget which meets its 

 statutory responsibilities. 

Page 70

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

15 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

4. Preferred Option and Reason 
4.1  This report is the start of the formal budget-setting process which will be informed 

 through consultation and research. Decisions on priorities and services will be 

 communicated on a regular basis. 

5. Consultation on Options 

5.1  The Council already has a wealth of information from previous budget consultation 

 exercises and residents’ surveys, the most recent being undertaken in 2015. 

5.2 Early public engagement is essential to arrive at suitable feedback which can be 

developed in time to be incorporated within the budget. Information will be placed on 

the Council’s website along with articles in Local which allows members of the public, 

staff and businesses to provide their ideas for how to reduce spending and optimise 

income while protecting the quality of public services. 

5.3 The Cabinet Advisory Boards will continue to provide a good source of challenge in 

developing the budget and to the level of service provided. 

5.4 This year further views will be gathered through a Councillor Convention and a 

Residents’ Survey to help form an overall picture of prioritisation. Cabinet proposals for 

savings and growth can then be tested through consultation in December when the draft 

budget will be placed on the Council’s consultation portal. 

6. Implementation 

6.1  This report sets out the mechanism by which Cabinet will deliver its service and 

 budget strategy. The report and recommendations will be subject to comment by the 

 Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board and further reports to Cabinet in 

 due course. The draft budget proposals will be considered by Cabinet in December 

 and published onto the consultation portal. Final proposals for the budget will be 

 agreed by Cabinet in February and proposed for approval by Full Council in February 

 2024. 

7. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Budget Timetable 

• Appendix B: MTFS Update 

Background Papers: 

• None 

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

16 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

 

8. Cross Cutting Issues 

Issue Implications Sign-off 

 

Legal including 

Human Rights 

Act 

The TWBC Plan 2022-24 and budget form part 

of the Council’s Policy Framework. 
Director of 

Finance, Policy 

and 

Development, 7 

June 2023 

Finance and 

other resources 

This report forms part of the Council’s Budget 

and Policy Framework. 
Director of 

Finance, Policy 

and 

Development, 7 

June 2023 

Staffing 

establishment 

Where savings proposals impact on staff then 

this will be managed in accordance with 

Human Resources policies. 

The Council continues to face acute pressure 

in retaining and recruiting professional and 

other staff. The situation is exacerbated as 

private sector pay is significantly higher than 

the public sector in the Southeast, unlike the 

rest of the country. The regional disparity has 

been identified by the Institute of Fiscal 

Studies and is shown below: 

 

 

Director of 

Finance, Policy 

and 

Development, 7 

June 2023 

Risk 

management   

An assessment of the risk factors 

underpinning the budget will accompany the 

final budget report. The Strategic Risk 

Register also includes a risk on funding 

streams which is being monitored by Cabinet 

and the Audit and Governance Committee. 

Director of 

Finance, Policy 

and 

Development, 7 

June 2023 

Environment  

and sustainability 

The budget has regard to the environmental 

sustainability priorities within the TWBC Plan 

2022-24. 

Director of 

Finance, Policy 

and 

Development, 7 

June 2023 

Page 72

Agenda Item 7



 

Page  

17 of 17 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/2025 

 

Community 

safety 

 

The budget has regard to the community 

safety priorities within the TWBC Plan 2022-

24. 

Director of 

Finance, Policy 

and 

Development, 7 

June 2023 

Health and 

Safety 

The budget has regard to the Health and 

Safety obligations and priorities within the 

Five-Year Plan. 

Director of 

Finance, Policy 

and 

Development, 7 

June 2023 

Health and 

wellbeing 

The budget has regard to the health and 

wellbeing priorities within the TWBC Plan 

2022-24. 

Director of 

Finance, Policy 

and 

Development, 7 

June 2023 

Equalities Changes to service delivery may impact on 

equalities; however, heads of service will 

ensure that an equality assessment is in place 

where this has been identified. 

Director of 

Finance, Policy 

and 

Development, 7 

June 2023 

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



Date Forum Report

15/03/23 Parliament Spring Budget

24/05/23 Council AGM Appointment of Cabinet Members and Committees

11/07/23 Finance and Governance Cabinet 

Advisory Board

Consideration of Cabinet reports: 

Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/25

27/07/23 Cabinet Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/25

Autumn Parliament King's Speech

10/10/23 Finance and Governance Cabinet 

Advisory Board

Consideration of Cabinet report: 

Budget Update and Benchmarking 2024/25

26/10/23 Cabinet Budget Update and Benchmarking 2024/25

Deep Think Fees & Charges Report Review

TBC Parliament Autumn Statement and Spending Review

14/11/23 Finance and Governance CAB Consideration of Cabinet report:

Fees and Charges Setting 2024/25

14/11/23 Finance and Governance CAB Consideration of Cabinet reports: 

Draft Budget 2024/25 & MTFS Update 

Verbal update of the Tax base report

23/11/23 Cabinet Fees and Charges Setting 2024/25

07/12/23 Cabinet Draft Budget 2024/25 & Draft MTFS Update

07/12/23 Cabinet Calculation of Council Tax Base 

08/12/23 Website & Local Draft Budget issued for Public 4 week consultation ending 5/1/24

Jan. 2024 All Member Briefing Budget and Policy Framework and results of public consultation.

23/01/24 Finance and Governance CAB Consideration of Cabinet reports: 

Budget 2024/25 and Medium Term Financial Strategy

Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2024/25

29/01/24 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Budget 2024/25 & MTFS Update

08/02/24 Cabinet Budget 2024/25 & MTFS Update

08/02/24 Cabinet Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2024/25

28/02/24 Council Set Treasury Management Policy and Strategy for 2024/25

28/02/24 Council Set Budget and Council Tax for 2024/25

2024/25 Budget Preparation Timetable

Transparency on Council expenditure on the Council's website, including spend on suppliers, members' 

allowances and grants

Current financial information on the Council's website, including the budget, codebook, statement of accounts 

and Medium Term Financial Strategy

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/performance-and-spending/transparency-on-spend

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/performance-and-spending/financial-reports-and-budget

H:\Corp\Committ\Democratic Services\Committee\Committee Meetings\Cabinet\Management Board (Committee Reports)\2023-24\2023-06-26 (July Cabinet)\Budget Projection & Strategy 24-

25\Appendix A Budget 2024_25 Timetable

Page 74

Appendix A

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/performance-and-spending/financial-reports-and-budget
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/performance-and-spending/financial-reports-and-budget
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/performance-and-spending/transparency-on-spend
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/performance-and-spending/transparency-on-spend
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/performance-and-spending/transparency-on-spend
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/council/performance-and-spending/financial-reports-and-budget


  MEDIUM-TERM BUDGET PROJECTIONS

Year
Annual (Surplus)

/ Deficit
Explanation

£000s

1 BASE 2023/24 0 Draw down of £943,000 from reserves to off set high inflation

2 2024/25 889 Inflationary pressures greater than income cap of 3 per cent

3 2025/26 1,278 Inflationary pressures greater than income cap of 3 per cent

4 2026/27 2,397 Impact of Census 2021 on Fair Funding Review

5 2027/28 5,144 Market cost of reprocuring major contracts

6 2028/29 5,809 Indexation on higher major contracts and costs rising more than income

TOTAL NET CUMULATIVE FORECAST 15,516 IF LEFT UNMANAGED

332 FTE's

Investment Interest increased to £2m reflecting higher interest rates.

Fair Funding Review implemented 2026/27

Car Parking Income remains frozen from 2024/25

New Homes Bonus or replacement incentive of £768k continues

Council Tax increases by 3 per cent each year

Business Rates increase by 3% pa

Supplies & Services costs are frozen

Waste increase by 4% from 2024/25 plus £2m from 2027/28

Parks increase by 4% from 2024/25 plus £200k from 2027/28

Leisure income remains frozen then £290k is lost from 2027/28

General income increase by 3% pa 

Premises increase by 1% pa 

Major Assumptions

Establishment costs increase by 5% a year reflecting retention difficulties.

Vacancy factor increased to £500,000 reflecting recruitment difficulties.

Transport costs are frozen

P
age 75

A
ppendix B



 

Page  

1 of 10 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

      

 

Dunorlan Parking Consultation 

Response  

For Cabinet on 27 July 2023 

 

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Christopher Hall, Portfolio Holder for Finance & Performance 

Lead Director: Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy & Development 

Head of Service: Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

Report Author: Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 4 July 2023 

Portfolio Holder 29 June 2023 

Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory Board 11 July 2023 

Cabinet 27 July 2023 

Recommendations 

Officer / Committee recommendations as supported by the Portfolio Holder: 

1. That Cabinet considers the responses from the Consultation held in November 

2022 and notes the mitigations in the report. 

2. That Cabinet agrees that car parking charges should be introduced in the 

Dunorlan Park car parks and charging option A or B will be adopted, as agreed 

at their meeting. 

3. That Cabinet agrees for charges to be implemented on 16 October 2023, with 

the exception of Blue Badge Holders parked in Disabled spaces, which will be 

free of charge. 

Page 76

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

2 of 10 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

      

 

4. That Cabinet gives authority to the Portfolio Holders for Finance & Performance 

and Economic Development, in conjunction with the Head of Finance, 

Procurement & Parking, to make minor amendments to the proposal resulting 

from the comments received during the formal consultation process required to 

create the Parking Places Order or further operational issues that may arise. 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 In their meeting on 20 July 2022, Cabinet considered introducing parking 

charges in Dunorlan Park as part of their in-year Budget Review for 2022/23. The 

aim was to help to close the budget deficit for 2023/24 invoking the principle of 

user pays to support the cost of maintaining the park. Members deferred the 

decision to allow for a separate consultation on the introduction of charges. 

1.2 This consultation took place between 7 November and 18 December 2022. In 

addition, letters were sent to residents, businesses and organisations that were 

very local to the park, to capture their specific views. Members also met 

informally with the Friends of Dunorlan Park and representatives and participants 

of the Royal Tunbridge Wells Park Run. There were 1008 respondents.  

1.3 The questions asked and the responses to the consultation are all detailed in 

Appendix A. The main findings are: 

• 50% of respondents wanted the parking to be free and 34% of 
respondents wanted a free period followed by charges. 

• 65% of respondents said that they use the park for between 1 and 2 hours 
per visit, so if a free period was introduced, their parking could also be 
free if they curtailed their visit to within the hour. 

• Assuming a fee is paid, the most popular response was for £1 per hour 
(24% of respondents). 

• Most people use the park for walking, socialising or dog walking and 
weekends are the busiest. 

• 76% of respondents travel to the park by car, whilst 22% walk, although 
the majority live within 3 miles of the park. 

 
1.4 The freeform responses provided by the local residents, businesses and 

organisations are included in Appendix B. The main comment themes are: 

• Parking should be free as residents pay council tax. 

• The park should be funded by other charges or donations. 

• Concern over the cost of implementation, maintenance and enforcement. 

• View that any income from parking charges should be ringfenced for the 

park. 

• Concern that introducing charging will displace parking into Halls Hole 

Road or nearby streets. 

• Concern about the negative effect on the café and boat businesses in the 

park. 

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

3 of 10 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

      

 

1.5 This was an informal consultation and should the Council decide to implement 

charges, a formal consultation must be completed to create the necessary 

Parking Places Order for each of the car parks. This will give a further 

opportunity for users of the park, residents and businesses to comment before 

these charges can be introduced. 

1.6 The Council still has a total budget deficit of £943,000 for 2023/24 which needs 

to be closed to protect current services. The implementation of charges would 

support the Borough Partnership’s first priority under the focus on five of 

“Safeguarding the Council’s Finances”. 

1.7 This report should be seen in the context of the Retail Price Index (RPI) of 11.3% 

and the Consumer Price Index (CPI) of 8.7% for May 2023. High inflation rates 

are forecast to continue through 2023, so this is not expected to be a short-term 

pressure. 

2. Proposed Parking Charges 

2.1 Dunorlan Park has two car parks, one accessible from Pembury Road, the other 

from Halls Hole Road. Each has 40 spaces (if they were to be properly marked). 

There are many charging options, but the two most popular from the consultation 

respondents were an hourly rate at £1 per hour or a free period followed by a 

charge. These options are laid out below and Cabinet will need to agree their 

preference. 

2.2 It is proposed that 2 Disabled bays in each of Pembury Road and Halls Hole 

Road car parks be set aside for Blue Badge Holders and that these spaces will 

be free, providing a valid Blue Badge is displayed on the dashboard of the 

vehicle. This is the same as the current provision. Having a Parking Places Order 

in place for the car parks will allow the enforcement of these Disabled bays, 

which is not possible at present. Anyone can park in a disabled bay currently as 

the Council does not have the ability to enforce. 

2.3 It is proposed that charges will be applicable between 8am and 6pm. The park is 

only open from dawn until dusk, so income will be limited in the late afternoons of 

winter. 

2.4 Option A 

Assumes charges are £1 per hour up to 4 hours and then £5 for the whole day. 
 

£'s including VAT 

up to 1 hour 1.00 

up to 2 hours 2.00 

up to 3 hours 3.00 

up to 4 hours 4.00 

All Day 5.00 

 

Page 78

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

4 of 10 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

      

 

2.5  The forecast income is as below: 

 

 It can be seen that on the assumption of 50% utilisation on weekdays and 80% 

utilisation at weekends, between 9 am and 3 pm, income of £81,206 per annum 

(net of VAT) could be raised. The utilisation rates have been estimated from 

vehicle counts taken in October/November 2022. The 6 hour time period 

between 9 am and 3 pm is, according to the consultation responses, when the 

majority of visitors will park. Outside of these times, there are relatively few 

visitors to the park. 

2.6 Option B 
Assumes the first hour of parking is free, 2 hours is £2, then an additional £1 per 

hour up to 4 hours and then £5 for the whole day. 

  
£'s including VAT 

up to 1 hour Free 

up to 2 hours 2.00 

up to 3 hours 3.00 

up to 4 hours 4.00 

All Day 5.00 

 
2.7 It is difficult to estimate the income for Option B as the Council does not have 

any empirical data on dwell time in the Dunorlan car parks. However, 65% of the 

consultation respondents only use the park for between 1 and 2 hours and there 

is data from the Council’s other car parks, showing that the first hour of parking 

on all parking sessions except those who park all day, constitutes about 66% of 

total income. Using this assumption, the forecast income would be around 34% 

of £81,206, so £27,610 per year. 

 

2.8 In addition to the parking income, there is likely to be around £14,000 of 

enforcement income from Penalty Charge Notices issued. This estimate is based 

upon income from the Coach Park car park which is a similar size and the same 

pricing structure. The total income is therefore forecast to be £95,206 excluding 

VAT for Option A or £41,610 for Option B.  

 

2.9 One-off implementation costs are estimated to be £10,000. This is comprised 

£3,000 to make the Parking Places Order, £4,000 to relocate a payment machine 

and attach a solar panel to it and £3,000 for signing and lining. 

Parking Income
Capacity excl. 2 

disabled spaces Utilisation

Hrs 

Between 

9am & 

3pm

Days per 

Year

Income 

per Hr

Total 

Income inc 

VAT

Total 

Income 

Excl VAT

Pembury Road - Weekdays 38 50% 6 261 1 29,754          24,795     

Halls Hole Road - Weekdays 38 50% 6 261 1 29,754          24,795     

Pembury Road - Weekends 38 80% 6 104 1 18,970          15,808     

Halls Hole Road - Weekends 38 80% 6 104 1 18,970          15,808     

TOTAL 97,447          81,206     

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

5 of 10 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

      

 

2.10 Additional annual operational and maintenance costs are estimated to be £6,600. 

This is comprised £700 for machine maintenance and software costs, £1,400 in 

card transaction costs (RingGo transactions are free to the Council and the 

motorist) and £4,500 staff costs for enforcement. Other maintenance costs must 

be paid for whether or not the parking is charged.  

2.11 It is proposed that these charges be implemented from 16 October 2023 to give 

time for a Parking Places Order to be written, a payment machine to be 

relocated, signage to be designed and installed and lines repainted where 

necessary. 

3 Addressing the Consultation Responses 

3.1 The consultation showed that 50% of the 1,008 respondents, would rather that 

parking in both car parks remain a free service. Similarly, another 34% would 

rather there be an initial free period, making their visit free as well. The local 

residents, in their freeform responses, also said that they thought the parking 

should remain free as they pay via their council tax. However, Councils all over 

the country have severe budget funding shortfalls. Residents are not paying 

sufficient Council Tax to pay for the services they receive. Tunbridge Wells 

currently has a budget deficit for 2023/24 of £943,000. Council tax can be 

increased by a maximum of 2.99% but inflation is running at around 10%. 

Government began reducing Council funding back in 2010, so there have been 

many years of finding efficiencies and improving productivity, but this has been 

exhausted so the shortfall must be found from increasing fees and charges 

revenue or reducing services and thereby costs.  Charging for parking is thought 

to be preferable to reducing services. 

3.2 Benchmarking has shown that other Councils in Kent have been charging for 

parking in their country parks for some time. The charges do vary. Canterbury 

charges £5 for 2 hours parking at their Westgate Gardens, whilst Tonbridge and 

Malling charge £1.80 for 4 hours parking at Haysden Country Park (note that the 

consultation responses state that most visits are of up to 2 hours, making it 

comparably £1.80 for 2 hours parking). Mote Park in Maidstone charges £2 for 6 

hours and Sevenoaks Wildlife reserve is £2.50 all day (again similar charges on 

the assumption of a 2 hour visit). A lower charge for a longer time period was 

considered, but there was a desire to encourage a turnover or users and to deter 

all day parking, which could mean that workers from local employers could 

monopolise the use of the space. 

3.3 26 respondents to the consultation requested an annual season ticket. Surveys 

of the car park have shown that there are a small number of users who park 

daily, but the intention is for there to be a healthy circulation of vehicles to enable 

the limited spaces to be used by park visitors, rather than the spaces being 

occupied by shoppers and workers benefiting from the cheaper parking and 

walking into town. Permits are also offered at a heavily discounted rate, so the 

revenue forecast would also be adversely affected. It is therefore not proposed to 

offer an annual permit. 

Page 80

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

6 of 10 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

      

 

3.4 The consultation respondents explained that they use the park mostly for 

walking, socialising or dog walking and there was concern that imposing a 

parking charge would create a financial barrier to residents being able to access 

green spaces. Research has shown that residents in Tunbridge Wells enjoy one 

of the greenest towns in the country. Appendix C shows a map of Tunbridge 

Wells highlighting the available green spaces and the addresses of the 

consultation respondents as purple dots. Whilst 76% of respondents said that 

they travel to the park by car, it can be seen that this is a choice as they do have 

access to local green spaces that they can walk to. 

3.5 The Council is proposing to implement these parking charges to help mitigate 

against the £175,000 per annum cost of maintaining Dunorlan Park and the 

unfunded increases in the grounds maintenance costs expected due to inflation. 

This income will therefore directly support the park. 

3.6 It was suggested that this income should instead be raised by increasing charges 

to event organisers and/or asking for donations. There is a market rate for events 

spaces and charges must be competitive to attract events to the town. It is not 

possible to attract sufficient events to raise sums comparable to those achievable 

by implementing parking charges. Experience of requesting donations at our 

museum suggests minimal contributions will be raised. 

3.7 Concerns were expressed over the impact upon the café and boat businesses in 

the park. Benchmarking suggests that cafes in Haysden and Moat Parks, both of 

which are chargeable car parks, operate successfully. It should be noted, that 

unlike other businesses in the town, these businesses are exempt from business 

rates. The Council is also their landlord, so should they evidence an adverse 

financial impact due to the introduction of parking charges, the council may 

choose to amend the rents charged. 

3.8 It was raised that there are many volunteers who generously give their time to 

support the maintenance of the park. Similarly, there are events organisers and 

potentially the café and boat business staff, who would be impacted by the 

introduction of charges. The Council is able to list vehicles against whom they 

will not enforce in the park. Should Members agree to give certain groups free 

parking at certain times, this can be accommodated.  

3.9 It is possible that the introduction of parking charges in Dunorlan Park will cause 

the displacement of parked vehicles. At present, it is not possible to foresee 

exactly what the impact will be, but the situation will be closely monitored and 

action will be taken to mitigate issues should they arise. Any on-street restriction 

amendments will need the support of Kent County Council, as the Highways 

Authority for Kent, but if charges are approved, work will start immediately to 

ensure that any necessary changes can be made in a timely and cost-effective 

manner. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

7 of 10 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

      

 

3. Options Considered 

3.1 Leave the car parks free of charge. This does not support the Council’s principle 

of “User Pays” and does not support the Borough Partnership’s first priority under 

the focus on five of “Safeguarding the Council’s Finances”. 

3.2 Implement parking charges under Option A. This would raise a forecast net 

income of £78,606 in Year 1 and £88,606 thereafter, towards the maintenance of 

the park. It also supports the Borough Partnership’s first priority under the focus 

on five of “Safeguarding the Council’s Finances” and the principle of “User Pays”. 

Concerns raised from the consultations can be mitigated and managed as 

explained in the report. 

3.3 Implement parking charges under Option B. This would raise a forecast net 

income of £25,010 in Year 1 and £35,010 thereafter, towards the maintenance of 

the park. It does support the Borough Partnership’s first priority under the focus 

on five of “Safeguarding the Council’s Finances” and the principle of “User Pays”, 

however, the business case is not nearly as strong. Concerns raised from the 

consultations can be mitigated and managed as explained in the report. 

4. Preferred Option and Reason 

4.1 That charges are implemented to safeguard the Council’s finances as there is a 

current budget deficit of £943,000 in 2023/24 which is forecast to become larger 

in the following 5 years. 

4.2 That Members select Option A or B from the above.  

4.3 This report sets out the details and reasons for the recommendations. 

4.4 The Council can no longer absorb the significant inflationary pressure on its 

operating costs and new income streams must be found if services are to be 

protected. 

5. Consultation on Options 

5.1 A residents’ consultation was carried out resulting in 1,008 responses. The 

results can be found in Appendix A. 

5.2 A local residents, businesses and organisations freeform consultation was 

carried out.  The results can be found in Appendix B. 

5.3 A further “formal consultation” will be carried out prior to making the Parking 

Places Order. 

Page 82

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

8 of 10 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

      

 

Recommendation from Cabinet Advisory Board 

5.4 The Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory Board were consulted on 11 July 

2023 and agreed the following: 

 

6. Implementation 

6.1 Finance will communicate the decision to the appropriate services and 

notification to the public will be made via the Internet. Parking will commence the 

operational tasks to prepare for implementation if Cabinet decide to introduce 

charges. 

7. Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Dunorlan Parking Consultation November 2022 

• Appendix B: Dunorlan Parking Consultation to Local Residents November 2022 

– Freeform responses 

• Appendix C: Map of green spaces 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

9 of 10 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

      

 

8. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003 permits best value authorities to charge for 

discretionary services provided the authority has the power to provide that service and the 

recipient agrees to take it up on those terms.  The authority has a duty to ensure that taking 

one financial year with another, income does not exceed the costs of providing the service.  

A number of the fees and charges made for services by the Council are set so as to provide 

the service at cost. In other cases the fee is set by statute and the Council must charge the 

set fee. In both cases the proposals in this report meet the Council’s obligations. 

Claudette Valmond, Interim Head of Legal, MKLS 30/06/2023 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

This report will support the budget for 2023/24, reducing the need to use reserves. It is vitally 

important for the Council that decisions are made to balance the revenue budget after the 

effects of the pandemic and that the threats to council services are managed during the 

current economic uncertainties.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 30/06/2023 

C. Staffing 

Where income activity undergoes significant change, staffing resources associated with the 

activity will need to be reviewed. Any additional costs of changing staffing levels would need 

to be weighed against the changes in income.  

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 30/06/2023 

D. Risk Management 

There is risk around the volumes projected in this report, due to the current economic 

uncertainties and the lack of existing data. Performance will need to be monitored closely. 

It is possible that the introduction of parking charges will cause the displacement of parked 

vehicles. At present, it is not possible to foresee what the impact will be, but the situation will 

be closely monitored and action will be taken to mitigate issues should they arise. 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking 30/06/2023 

Page 84

Agenda Item 8



 

Page  

10 of 10 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

      

 

E. Environment and Sustainability 

No implications 

F. Community Safety 

No implications 

G. Equalities 

No implications 

H. Data Protection 

No implications 

I. Health and Safety 

No implications 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

No implications 

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



Dunorlan Parking

P
age 86

A
ppendix A



Methodology

- Run from 7 November to 18 December

- Online (without registration) and by post

- Physical copies distributed via Dunorlan Café and posted on request

- Residents in affected areas invited by post (50 households)

- We received a total of 1008 responses

- Survey was promoted to residents via posters placed in Dunorlan Park Café 

and in the impacted car parks.

P
age 87

A
ppendix A



Park usage

- Most respondents visit the park weekly (39%).

- Busiest day is Saturday (43%).

- Park busiest between 9am and 12 noon (57%) 

or between 12 noon and 3pm (57%).

- Respondents were most likely to stay for 1-2 

hours (65%)

- The park is likely to be busiest between 9am 

and 3pm on a Saturday. 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Between 6am and
9am

Between 9am and
12 noon

Between 12 noon
and 3pm

Between 3pm and
6pm

After 6pm

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Every day Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday

IH0

P
age 88

A
ppendix A



Slide 3

IH0 Is there a graph for activities?
Ian Hirst, 2023-01-03T08:32:58.145

P
age 89

A
ppendix A



Activities

- Most popular activities were walking (90%), 

socialising (46%) and dog walking (33%).

0 200 400 600 800 1000

Children's activities

Dog walking

Events

Running

Socialising

Volunteering

Business

Group exercise

Walking

P
age 90

A
ppendix A



Travelling to the park

- 76% of respondents travel to the park by 

car, while 22% walk. 

- 82% of respondents who gave their 

postcode live within 0-3 miles of the park, 

72% of which travel to the park by car, 

while 23% walk, 1% cycle, 1% take public 

transport, and the remaining 3% did not 

provide a method of transport.

- 11% of respondents live within 3 to 10 

miles of the park, of which 99% travel to the 

park by car. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Ward and method of travel

Car Walk Cycle Public Transport

P
age 91

A
ppendix A



Where respondents are from

P
age 92

A
ppendix A



Where people park
- Of those residents who travel to the park by car, 58% (432) choose to park at Hall’s Hole 

Road, 39% (289) at Pembury Road and 3% (22) use on-street parking. It is useful to note 

that the capacity of Pembury Road is around 30 cars, while Hall’s Hole Road is about 40.

Hall's Hole Car 
Park
58%

Pembury Road 
Car Park

39%

On-street parking
3%

Hall's Hole Car Park Pembury Road Car Park On-street parking

P
age 93

A
ppendix A



Hall’s Hole Road

Of those residents who park at Hall’s Hole Road, 61% (262) said they sometimes had difficulty 

parking, while 36% (156) said they never had difficulty, and 3% (14) said they always had 

difficulty. 

3%

61%

36%

Hall’s Hole Road

Always Sometimes Never

P
age 94

A
ppendix A



Pembury Road

- Of the respondents who park at Pembury road, 70% (202) said they sometimes have 

difficulty parking, while 24% (70) said they never had difficulty parking, and 6% (17) said they 

always have difficulty. 

6%

70%

24%

Pembury Road

Always Sometimes Never

P
age 95

A
ppendix A



Charging Structures

- The most popular suggested charging structure was a short free period followed by a paid 

period.

P
age 96

A
ppendix A



Suggested Fees

- The most frequently suggested fee was £0, with 50% of respondents suggesting this. The 

second most popular fee suggested was £1 per hour, which accounts for 24% of responses. 

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

£0.00

£0.10

£0.25

£0.40

£0.60

£0.75

£1.00

£1.40

£2.00

£2.50

£50.00

P
age 97

A
ppendix A



 

Local Residents, Businesses and Organisations Freeform Responses 

 

No. Comments  

 RESIDENTS 

1 I live in hallls holen rd and have walked my dog there every day since 1998.. 
I have to drive all of 300 yrs to the park as you have Not provided access to the verge.  
The idea of charging is preposterous!!!! 
I pay council tax for use of the park.   
 

2  I am emailing in response to a letter I received this morning. I am strongly against the 
proposal to charge for parking in Dunorlan park. 
Drivers would then park on Halls Hole Road as they do when the car park is full, which 
then creates huge problems as this road is not wide enough to cope. Drivers would also 
look for free parking in the surrounding streets, including mine, causing more disruption. 
 

3 I am writing in relation to the recent proposal by TWBC to begin charging to park at 
Dunorlan Park car parks. 
I live at number xxxx and the parking is already a nightmare where I am. There is a lay-
by that the residents use and any guests that visit residents on the Road. This proposal 
will increase the traffic that already has a detrimental effect of the residents due to the 
noise and congestion.  
The lay-by will now be full of people that come to park there for the park and will be 
packed with people looking for somewhere free to park. This will be a nightmare for the 
local residents and we will be unable to park. 
Please can you take this into consideration that the standard of living for the residents of 
Halls Hole Road will be affected by this decision. 
Has there been any consideration about this and the knock on effect? How will the 
residents of TWBC who pay the council tax be compensated for this? 
Let me know if there is anything further I can do to oppose this as I would be willing to 
do everything I can to prevent this action. 
 

4 Hi and thank you for the opportunity to comment.  
My comment is simply this: don’t forget the law of unintended consequences. As parking 
is charged elsewhere in the town, people will inevitably use the Dunorlan car park if it is 
free parking and then walk into town (I’m sure people already do this). 
This means that people wanting to drive to the park to use the park, may not be able to. 
 

5 I support the introduction of car park charging, bearing in mind the financial situation 
regarding rising costs of maintenance within Dunorlan Park.  
I would however base my support on the condition that funds raised by the introduction 
of the charges are used directly and ring fenced to the benefit of Dunorlan Park and the 
care of this beautiful place. 
 

6 Maybe you could install a donation box for the parking charges. 
 

7 We are so concerned that the subject of parking charges for Dunorlan Park has come 
up again.    What a huge shame.     

Page 98

Appendix B



 
The park is an absolute life-line within our very busy town and by introducing parking 
charges it could well discourage people from visiting it.    The streets surrounding the 
park are already at saturation point for parking and by charging for parking in the park it 
can only exacerbate an already impossible situation.      As somebody who lives very 
near by I am very concerned about this. 
The impact of parking charges on families trying to spend all day picnicking in the park, 
and on things like the park run will be huge. 
Surely, people should be encouraged rather than discouraged to use the park – for 
mental and physical health.     During this recessionary time one of the only ‘free’ things 
that families can do is to enjoy themselves in the parks. 
Parking machines would be an open invitation to vandalism – and the cost of installing 
and maintaining the machines would be large. 
The café in the park is a well-used and valued asset and its sustainability would be put 
into question by parking charges. 
PLEASE reconsider this matter.   Your proposal is such an anti-social one and is 
potential very harmful. 
 

8 Charges will drive even more vehicles to park up in the only remaining free areas in 
Hawkenbury, i.e. High Woods Lane & Halls Hole Road. This will increase the already 
huge inconvenience for residents, their visitors, workmen and allotment holders. Since 
the imposition of restrictions by TWBC in the whole Hawkenbury area, following the 
huge influx of mainly AXA staff and their resultant parking years ago, the situation for 
these two remaining free areas has become untenable. Perhaps an expansion of the 
arguably inadequate parking in the park should be considered. 
 

9 Thank you for providing a Dunorlan Park survey which has allowed me to confirm the 
importance the park offers to both myself and the community.  
Whilst understanding that the following is based on general ‘gossip’, I’m particularly 
shocked to note that the proposed parking request for visitors is based on the 
assumption that ‘if you live in Tunbridge Wells then you can afford to pay a parking fee’. 
I do not expect to pay for visiting the  park indeed there should be more free parking 
spaces for the community ideally all on smooth surfaces. 
The 'Dunorlan Park Friends' group largely provide a free volunteer labour service 
Monday mornings.  The Kent High Weald Partnership carries out remediation work in 
parks across Kent. However, KHWP charge a daily rate for their services and the 
Friends pay them on occasions when needed for their special skills such as chainsawing 
and reinforcing island banks thus saving the Council these costs. 
Finally, there is limited, safe parking in surrounding areas. Adding to that parking 
scarcity could be hazardous.  
I trust that TWB Council will think very carefully before deciding what is best for the 
community. 
 

10 I understand the fiscal constraints.   
The proposed solution is likely to cause more problems though and probably in the end 
be very expensive and potentially life threatening one. 
There is already a significant problem with overflow parking on Halls Hole Road.  This 
has caused arguments and accidents in the past and no doubt will continue to do so. 
If the council imposes parking charges this problem will only get worse.   
 

Page 99

Appendix B



How much will it cost to enforce the parking charges.  Camera installation or patrolling? 
How much will it cost in policing to deal with the additional accidents and any affray? 
Is it worth upsetting local residents and making their lives more difficult and dangerous? 
£182,000 a year might get an accountant excited but per resident it is relatively 
trivial.  Maybe don’t waste so much money on failed schemes like the mad idea to put a 
theatre and offices in Calverley grounds. 
So much money is wasted in TW on idiotic schemes.  This is just another. 
Please think again, don’t put more lives at risk. And please don’t once again, impose 
another fiscal burden which adversely affects the poor far more than the rich. 
 

11 i have completed survey but the last query is not really answerable. 6youths/ six young 
children?the park, like pavements, twittens,IS tunbridge wells and should be free free to 
enjoy.a voluntary collection from friends/residents and local businesses could be 
considered I SUPPOSE. 
 

12 Dunorlan Park is one of the great assets available to visitors and residents of Tunbridge 
Wells, especially during the summer months when the weather is sufficiently reliable to 
be able to attract regular annual events such as Pub in the Park and the weekly 
Parkrun. The potential to attract more of such events sits with the Council, but to even 
consider making a charge to park in the Park’s car park is iniquitous when one of the 
main responsibilities on the agenda of TWBC is to seek to attract visitors and shoppers 
to our wonderful town. This is such a negative move when the Park gives such pleasure 
to pensioners, disabled people, dog walkers, families, wild-life lovers, keep fit 
enthusiasts, many of whom will find it difficult to pay the extra cost for parking. Being 
asked to pay to park will (potentially) reduce visitor numbers considerably unless 
alternative parking on a narrow part of Halls Hole Road serves as an unpaid alternative, 
overlooking the negative traffic flow implications and the consequent reduction in the 
width and quality of the grass verges, and I speak with almost 40 years’ experience of 
living on xxxx.  
 

 BUSINESSES 

13 thank you for your email i look forward to receiving the paper copies of the survey to 
display in the cafe. Car parking charges will most certainly have a negative effect on the 
businesses within the park who also contribute to the council coffers, it can be quite 
challenging to run this type of business as we have seen see with the closure of St johns 
catering outlet and the mobile unit in Hawkenbury recreation Grounds. I wouldn't like to 
think that people with limited mobility where walking or biking isn't an option put off from 
visiting our park due to parking charges, best wishes  
 

 ORGANISATIONS 

14  
This is interesting as we thought the idea of charging to park in the Dunorlan car parks 
had been dropped.  However, we want to be constructive in this matter and will co-
operate as much as possible. 
I think it is important to consider the complete picture of revenue that Dunorlan Park can 
generate for TWBC.  We believe that more money could be charged to organisers of the 
events field such as Pub in the Park and the funfair.  We would also wish to be assured 
that revenue generated by parking charges would be returned directly for use in the 
Park.  At present, maintenance provided through Tivoli in the Park is underfunded and is 
unsatisfactory in many ways.  The Park is currently partly maintained by a team of about 

Page 100

Appendix B



15 volunteers provided through the Friends and managed by the excellent Kasia 
Olszewska of TWBC.  If car parking charges are introduced, I would suggest that free 
passes should be given to the volunteers and, for example, to members of our 
committee who feed the wildfowl during the winter and rescue injured birds to take to the 
Folly Rescue Centre. 
You would also need to consider the effects of car parking charges on the Saturday 
parkrun community and on people who walk their dogs early and late in the day when 
the park is otherwise very quiet. 
If TWBC charges for the car parks, people will seek to park elsewhere.  This could make 
worse the already dangerous conditions on Halls Hole Road and could lead to 
dangerous and unsightly parking on verges on Pembury Road. 
I am copying this initial reply to my colleagues on the Friends’ Committee and, when I 
have their views, I will encourage our 400 members to comment. 
Incidentally, you say you are consulting residents who live close to the Park but these 
are the very people who do not need to take cars to the park!  May be, our wider survey 
of 400 members will be more useful to you. 
I hope my initial thoughts are useful.  I will submit a more detailed response when we 
have consulted our members. 
 

15 I have noticed the idea to charge for visiting Dunorlan Park, with the reasons bring to 
find the  money to pay the ever increasing costs of maintaining the park. 
I think it would be a shame to charge. The park is a lifeline to many, a big open space 
where you can exercise, meet in groups, walk the dog or just sit admiring the views and 
feed the ever growing wildfowl. It is a good place to relax and reduce anxiety.  
The park is not in the centre of town, and most people (unless local) need to use a car to 
get to the Park. At the present time we are trying to boost Tunbridge Wells and bring 
people to the area, and I feel these charges  would be a deterrent, especially if they 
have already been in Town and paid for multi storey parking.  
The cafe has strong business especially from the 200 weekly parkrunners, but this 
would possibly reduce if charges are made as the runners and volunteers would go 
home rather then have to pay extra.  I appreciate many are fit runners who walk to the 
park, but there are over 40 volunteers  each week who give up their time to ensure the 
health and well-being of the community is met.  They are are also joined on monthly 
runs with 5k your Way for people recovering from cancer, and the Council are looking to 
include their healthy runs into the parkrun runs. Outdoor gym equipment has recently 
been installed (no cost to TWBC with monies raised by the public), and the parking 
charges could deter people.  
Friends of Dunorlan Park and parkrun raised the money for the drinking facility, Friends 
of Dunorlan Park and parkrun raised 2/3 of the money for the defibrillator.  
Concern overall would be for business for the cafe and boathouse. In the summer 
people like to come for the day, have a picnic, go on the boats, and I worry in the current 
climate this would deter people from coming.  
There are also a group of volunteers who work each Monday gardening in the park, and 
Kent High Weald who continually work on projects funded by Friends of Dunorlan 
Park.There are  also members of the public who volunteer to litter pick, care for the 
wildfowl, update the noticeboards, and recycle cans. On top of that there are also 
volunteers from Barnardos and Oakley School. These people reduce the workload of 
Tivoli and all free to the council.  What would the cost be to TWBC if they had to fund 
these? 
 

Page 101

Appendix B



If you install car parking meters how much will this cost, and how long would you think it 
would take to recoup the money? 
The car park in Halls Hole Road would need to be resurfaced in parts.  It is fine parking 
in a muddy hole if it’s free but I would strongly object if I had to pay. People will just park 
in Halls Hole Road or side roads causing disruption. 
I think you need to rethink how to raise money, but change it into how can we save and 
raise money with what is currently there. 
Pub in the Park is the biggest event in the Park. The cost TWBC charge for the 10 days 
they disrupt the park (especially for dog walkers as this is the only place they can be off 
the lead) is so cheap at £750 per day. Pub in the Park are already promoting the  event 
next July so I hope we have considerably increased the cost. 
We could also have paid parking down the side of the field by the gate at Halls Hole car 
park for this event. If you charged £20 a session each (afternoon and evening and 
Sunday for 100 cars this would raise £6000. 
The same would apply to the fun fair but parking could be in the events field like the 
Jubilee Event. I would only suggest we do it for large events.  
After Christmas you could have a weekend where everyone brings their trees to be 
recycled and left in the field by the Halls Hole car park gate. Then this can be recycled 
into bark to either be sold or used around the park. 
The plants I believe are still bought from the same nursery they have used for years. Are 
we getting the most competitive quote or can money be saved here? 
Dunorlan Park has a nice established community of people who appreciate and care for 
the park, and many will stop coming if there are charges.  
We won Gold and Green Flag awards this and previous years, due to the presentation 
of the Park, but comments were also made appreciating all the work the community do 
to maintain and use the Park.  
I therefore feel there should be no charge to park at the Park. 
 

16 Thank you for the heads-up on the Dunorlan Park car parking charges consultation.  I 
have completed the on-line consultation  expressing my concern that this move could 
result in drivers parking on Halls Hole Road to avoid paying the parking fee. 
As you are no doubt aware, Halls Hole Road is a well used 'rat run' that has frequent 
and fast vehicles - cars, vans and bigger - using it. This already poses a danger for 
vehicles entering and particularly exiting the car park. The presence of parked cars in 
Halls Hole Road could further obscure the drivers' view.  Other measures to stop on-
road parking in that area may be needed to ensure the safe use of this entrance.  
I also suggest that the helpful plan to reduce the rat-running on Halls Hole Road and 
Cornford Lane devised by local residents in 2021 should be reconsidered in this context 
since it could significantly reduce traffic flows and speeds on these 'lanes'. 
I have attached a copy of this plan that I have on file for you to review and consider 
alongside your proposal to levy parking fees in Dunloran Park. 
 

 

Page 102

Appendix B



P
age 103

A
ppendix C



 

Page  

1 of 5 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Property Transactions Report January – June 2023 

 

Property Transactions Report 
For Cabinet on 27 July 2023 

Summary 

Lead Member: Councillor Christopher Hall, Cabinet Member for Finance & 

Performance 

Lead Director: Lee Colyer Director of Finance, Policy & Development (S151 

Officer) 

Head of Service: David Candlin, Head of Economic Development and Property 

Report Author: Peter Benfield, Senior Estates Officer 

Classification: Part Exempt 

Exempt Appendix A: Exempt by virtue of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 (as amended): Information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any particular person including the authority holding that 

information. 

Wards Affected: All 

Approval Timetable Date 

Management Board 19 June 2023 

Portfolio Holder 15 June 2023 

Finance & Governance Cabinet Advisory Board  11 July 2023 

Cabinet 27 July 2023 

This report relates to the following corporate priorities: 

• Safeguarding Finances 

• Digital access, transparency and local democracy 

Recommendation 

This report makes the following recommendation to the final decision-maker: 

• That the report be noted. 

Page 104

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

2 of 5 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Property Transactions Report January – June 2023 

 

1.  Introduction and Background 

1.1 This report informs Cabinet of the property transactions completed under 

delegated authority for the period 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023 in 

accordance with the requirements of the Constitution. 

1.2 The Constitution of the Council provides for delegated authority in respect of   

commercial properties.  

1.3 Commercial properties are defined for this purpose as being all land and 

buildings owned by the Council or in which it has an interest and which are 

managed on a commercial basis but excluding land and buildings which are 

held by the Council in order to discharge or fulfil its statutory functions where 

different considerations may apply. 

1.4 Under the delegation outlined in the Constitution the following powers are 

exercised including the service of any necessary statutory or other notices, 

subject to the provisos set out below: 

(i) to negotiate and agree rent reviews; 

(ii) to terminate, renew or re-let leases and licences as appropriate; 

(iii) to grant new leases or licences; 

(iv) to grant licences to assign or to sub-let; 

(v) to vary the terms of leases; 

(vi) to grant wayleaves, easements or rights of way; and 

(vii) to grant or refuse to give consents or approvals under covenants or 

other provisions where permission must be sought from the Council 

under the terms of any leases, tenancies, licences or similar 

documents.  

Provisos 

(a) All rents, charges etc. shall not be less than current relevant market 

values. 

(b)  No leases or licences shall be granted, renewed or terminated where 

the current or proposed consideration or annual rent (which for this 

purposes shall be exclusive of VAT) exceeds £25,000 in value. 

(c)  All decisions shall be in accordance with all adopted Council policies. 

(d) At six monthly intervals, action taken shall be reported to Cabinet. 

1.5 This report also details acquisitions and disposals where the Constitution 

delegates authority to acquire or dispose of land assets with a value under 

£250,000 subject to Section 151 Officer and Portfolio Holder approval. 

Page 105

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

3 of 5 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Property Transactions Report January – June 2023 

 

1.6 Set out in Appendix A and Exempt Appendix A are the property transactions 

undertaken with delegated authority for the period from 1 January 2023 to 30 

June 2023 as required to be reported to Cabinet under the delegation.  

1.7 This report also serves to update Cabinet on the lease management for the 

Royal Victoria Place. 

1.8 This report further seeks to update Cabinet on any property transactions 

undertaken by Tunbridge Wells Property Holdings Ltd. 

2.  Property Transactions 

2.1 Appendix A and Exempt Appendix A set out all the property transactions 

completed under delegation as outlined above. 

2.2 Property Disposals/Transfers - During the first six months of the calendar 

year, the Council disposed of one property. 

2.3 Lease & Licence Renewals/New Leases – Nine lettings/ licences were 

granted, equating to a net revenue of £19,643.65. Breakdowns with 

explanations are given in Exempt Appendix A of this report. 

2.4 Rent Reviews – Seven rent reviews were completed, securing a net annual 

rental increase of £5,282.40 per annum. 

2.5 Property Acquired by TWBC – The acquisition of one property was 

completed during this period. 

2.6 Other Matters Completed with Delegated Authority – No other matters were 

completed under this heading.  

2.7 New Assured Shorthold Tenancies Granted by Tunbridge Wells Property 

Holdings Limited – Six new ASTs were granted as listed. 

2.8 Royal Victoria Place - Sub-lettings from British Land for retail units and 

commercialisation. The lease from TWBC to British Land provides that, in the 

event of income (as defined under the lease) being greater than the initial 

rent, then the tenant will pay an increased rental sum. TWBC have set up a 

process whereby British Land advise the Council of changes in the sub-

tenancies for review by Finance on an annual basis, upon receipt of British 

Lands’ formal accounts. No changes in the tenancy schedule were reported 

by British Land during the subject period. 

3.   Appendices and Background Documents 

The following documents are to be published with and form part of the report: 

• Appendix A – Property Disposals and Acquisitions 

Page 106

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

4 of 5 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Property Transactions Report January – June 2023 

 

• Exempt Appendix A: List of Lease and License Renewals/New Leases, Rent 

Reviews and Other Matters 

4.    Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

(a) Legal – Legal advice was sought for all transactions and all necessary legal 

documentation was approved by Legal Services before completion. 

(b) Human Rights Act – There are no consequences arising from the 

recommendation that adversely affect or interfere with individuals’ rights and 

freedoms as set out in the Human Rights Act 1998. 

Claudette Valmond, Head of Legal Partnership 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

Assistance from the Finance team was provided as and when necessary and all 

required notification has been provided to amend the Council’s financial records. 

The condition of the current property market is reflected in all property transactions 

but the transactions reported have been achieved in accordance with the 

acquisitions and disposals policy of the Council as stated in the Constitution. 

Lee Colyer, Director of Finance, Policy and Development (section 151 Officer) 

 

C. Staffing 

Appropriate staffing was provided in all services of the Council involved in these 

transactions and professional consultants were appointed as appropriate to ensure 

compliance with the Constitution. 

Nicky Carter, Head of HR, Customer Service and Culture 

D. Risk Management 

Risk has been managed by complying with the Constitution requirement to obtain 

valuations where necessary. 

Report Author 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9



 

Page  

5 of 5 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Property Transactions Report January – June 2023 

 

E. Environment (inc. Biodiversity) and Sustainability 

No impact 

Report Author 

F. Community Safety 

There are no consequences of concern arising from this report. 

Terry Hughes, Community Safety Manager 

G. Equalities 

No specific issues. 

Report Author 

H. Data Protection 

No specific issues. 

Report Author 

I. Health and Safety 

No specific issues. 

Mike Catling, Corporate Health and Safety Advisor 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

No specific issues. 

Rebecca Bowers, Health Improvement Team Leader 

Page 108

Agenda Item 9



APPENDIX A 
 
 
 
 

Property Disposals/Transfers Date Completed Price (£) 

Brenchley and Matfield WCs 02/06/2023 0.00 

   

Total   

 

 

Page 109

Appendix A



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Urgent Business 

 

Urgent Business 

For Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board  on Tuesday 11 July 2023 

 

Procedural Item 

To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent, for the reasons to be 

stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Page 110

Agenda Item 10



 

Page  

1 of 1 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

Date of the Next Meeting 

 

Date of the Next Meeting 

For Finance and Governance Cabinet Advisory Board on Tuesday 11 July 2023

 

Procedural Item 

To note that the next scheduled meeting is Tuesday 5 September 2023 

Page 111

Agenda Item 11



Document is Restricted

Page 112

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).


	Agenda
	1 Apologies
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Notification of Persons Wishing to Speak
	4 Minutes of the meeting dated 6 June 2023
	5 Forward Plan  as at 23 June 2023
	6 Strategic Risk Register
	Strategic Risk Review June 2023 Appendix DRAFT to MB

	7 Budget Projection and Strategy 2024/25
	Appendix A Budget 2024_25 Timetable
	Appendix B MTFS 2024_5 to 28_29

	8 Dunorlan Parking Consultation Response
	Appendix A - Dunorlan Parking Consultation November 2022
	Appendix B - Local Residents Consultation Responses
	Appendix C - Green Spaces

	9 Property Transaction Report January to June 2023
	2023.06.30 APPENDIX A

	10 Urgent Business
	11 Date of the Next Meeting
	12 Exempt Appendix to the Property Transaction Report January to June 2023 (Agenda Item 9)

